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◆◆◆

The Landings Association, established in August 1972, is a nonprofit corporation formed to promote
the health, safety, and welfare of the residents of The Landings on Skidaway Island. Every person or
entity who is an owner of record in any lot or living unit which is subject to covenants of record is a
member of the corporation (Association). The Landings Association owns, operates, and maintains
the common properties and facilities and provide security services within the community.
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Message from the President
The Landings Association
February 8, 2022
Welcome to The Landings Association’s (TLA) 2021 Annual Report. I encourage you to read the entire report
and to contact TLA with any questions you may have. This report contains a wealth of information regarding
TLA’s activities over the last year, including a brief recap of the year’s accomplishments, the annual report from
The Landings Company, and most importantly, the complete, audited TLA financial statements so you can see just
how our Annual Dues are spent. This document includes an informative look into how each department operates
and all the services they provide for each of us.
TLA’s staff, under the direction of the General Manager, work every day to provide quality customer service for
residents. The staff efficiently conduct the daily operations that maintain our community and preserve our very
special way of life on this island. They are supported by a significant number of community volunteers, comprising
the Board of Directors, committee chairs, committee members, and many other volunteers. These volunteers are
a valuable and dedicated resource; their service to the community is greatly appreciated. As President of TLA’s
Board of Directors, I acknowledge the service, dedication, and passion for our island community exhibited by
these individuals.
The job of the Board of Directors of TLA is to provide oversight as well as to set the strategic direction and policies
for the Association. 2021 was a busy year for TLA, with many accomplishments. Several important objectives were
achieved during the year. I’ll mention a few of the accomplishments that demonstrate the work being done by TLA
staff and resident volunteers. These objectives include the following:
• The construction of a new athletic field with numerous additions and improvements was overseen by TLA staff
and guided by a committee of resident volunteers.
• TLA’s Board completed work on a new Strategic Plan which considered resident comments, suggestions, and
focus. This Plan will guide the community for the next three years.
• TLA’s Board conducted a nationwide search for a new General Manager. After several months of extensive
interviews, the search team recommended Karl Stephens for the position, and the Board of Directors
unanimously appointed him as General Manager in December.
• TLA staff, with support from the Finance Committee, recommended the 2022 Budget, which was approved by
the Board of Directors.
• The Landings Marina Harbor Project Team and focus groups consisting of resident volunteers were created to
discuss ideas regarding this waterfront amenity and its use by both boaters and non-boaters.

The Property Owners Association for The Landings on Skidaway Island
600 Landings Way South ~ Savannah, Georgia 31411
phon e 9 1 2 - 5 9 8 - 2 5 2 0 ~ fax 9 1 2 - 5 9 8 - 2 5 1 6 ~ www.lan dings. org
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Message from the President

As we celebrate our 50th Anniversary, we must continue efforts to maintain and preserve the natural beauty of
our island and the active lifestyle we enjoy while we develop our vision of the next 50 years. Important focus areas
will guide the work of our Association being facilitated, supported, and implemented by TLA staff and resident
volunteers who work together to maintain and preserve our special island lifestyle. These focus areas include:
• Maintaining community engagement and strong financial stewardship while adapting to the evolving needs of
the community.
• Protecting the environment of The Landings through environmental opportunities while meeting the
challenges of water and land use.
• Updating facilities, amenities, and services to accommodate changes that reflect the demographics of residents
as we prepare for the future of the community.
• Researching and leveraging cutting-edge technologies to enhance safety, security, and quality of life for
residents.
• Continuing and expanding all communication channels with residents.
I am honored to serve as your 2022 Board President. I am confident that together we will build on the great legacy
of the first 50 years, creating a home for future generations to enjoy as much as we do.

Mark Winters
2022 President, The Landings Association

4

Mission, Vision, and
Strategic Plan Goals

Strategic Planning

The Landings Association has a history of strategic planning dating back to its creation.
The purpose of the Strategic Plan is to establish the long-term direction to guide the actions required to remain
competitive, maintain and increase property values, attract new residents, and satisfy and retain existing property
owners. It contains the organizational vision, mission, and values, and is intended to serve for a three-year timeframe. In 2021, work was completed to create the next Strategic Plan. The current Board-adopted Mission, Vision,
and Strategic Plan Goals are below.

Mission and Vision
Mission of The Landings Association
The mission of The Landings Association is to enhance the value of living at The Landings by maintaining and
improving common property and amenities, providing services, and administering covenants in a publicly and
fiscally responsible and efficient manner.
Vision for The Landings Association
Our VISION is to be the most vibrant private residential community in the Southeast. We are stewards of the naturally beautiful coastal environment in which we live, work, and play and actively pursue economic, environmental,
and social sustainability. We create and foster an active lifestyle, along with experiences and services that enhance
our sense of community, security, and quality of life.

Strategic Plan Goals
GOAL 1 - COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE: Maintain community engagement and strong financial stewardship
while adapting to the evolving needs of the Community
GOAL 2 - ENVIRONMENTAL OPPORTUNITIES AND CHALLENGES - WATER AND LAND USE: The
Landings was founded on the goal of protecting the outstanding environment where The Landings is located. This
goal has survived the first 50 years of The Landings’ existence. It is imperative that the Association focus on this
goal as it plans for the next 50 years. Water and land use are key components of this Strategic Goal.
GOAL 3 – UPDATES OF FACILITIES, AMENITIES, AND SERVICES: Monitor Community facilities, amenities, and services and improve and expand as needed to accommodate changes in the use, size, and demographics
of the Property Owners and to prepare for the future of the Community
GOAL 4 – TECHNOLOGY: Research and leverage cutting-edge technologies to enhance the safety, security, and
quality of life for residents of The Landings
GOAL 5 – COMMUNICATIONS: Continue and expand all Communication Channels with the Property Owners
at The Landings
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General Manager’s Report
February 8, 2022

Dear Landings Association Members,
Welcome to your 2021 Annual Report, which includes highlights of work completed by your Landings Association in 2021 and a look ahead at projects on the horizon for 2022.
During 2021, the Board and Staff developed a new three-year Strategic Plan to chart the course for TLA reflecting the needs, desires, and aspirations of The Landings’ property owners. The updated Strategic Plan includes 34
actions that are designed to accomplish five key goals over a three-year period (2022-2024) – Community Governance; Environmental Opportunities and Challenges; Updates of Facilities, Amenities, and Services; Technology;
and Communications. You can read the Strategic Plan at www.landings.org/resources > Governing Documents >
Strategic Plan.
Year two of the COVID-19 pandemic brought more change to our community. Historically high home sales led
to many new residents. With this influx of new members, and with others working from home, architectural activity (and commercial access fees) performed well ahead of budget, as owners conducted extensive renovations.
Activity and the resulting inspections were so high, the Association added an additional inspector in the Community Development Department to prevent delays.
Inflation in the latter half of the year began significantly impacting the Association’s projects, prompting staff to
work even more outside of the box than usual to ensure the greatest cost savings. One example of this impact, and
the creativity and commitment of your TLA staff, is the annual sign/mailbox painting program. Bids received in
2021 were twice as high as prior years, due to labor and material shortages. To save money, while ensuring quality
work, the Association performed this project in house. Although taking on this project meant that some other
routine maintenance projects were slightly delayed, the cost savings recognized were well worth it.
In other positive news, the Public Works staff negotiated with our street resurfacing vendor to lock in 2021 rates
for an extensive program in 2022, thus saving about 20%, or about $250,000, compared to current market rates.
In 2021, the Landings Community Park upgrade was almost completed. This included replacing the 20-year-old
playground equipment with new, innovative playground additions (e.g., zipline, inclusive play structures); a 24’ x
24’ shade pavilion for small events and protection from the sun; replacement of the parkour trail with a shock-absorbing walking/jogging track (the trail was replaced, with the softer material scheduled to be installed in early
2022); upgraded lighting; resurfacing of the basketball courts and new hoops; and an addition of a third base line
safety netting. This was an exciting project for the community, and we installed a temporary camera at the site
during construction so that members could watch the action unfold in real time.
Speaking of live feeds, in 2021 the Association brought back the map section of our website as well as the Marinas live cams. You can use your phone, laptop, or tablet to access the Marinas Live Cams by visiting landings.org/
marinas and clicking on Delegal Creek Marina or Landings Harbor Marina (located on the right-hand side of the
screen).
To access the interactive map gallery hosted on The Landings Association’s website, visit landings.org/maps. Just
like before, the maps are a Geographic Information Systems (GIS)-based application called geothinQ, which provides an easy-to-use web interface that allows users to visualize, analyze, and interpret spatially referenced data.
Access to the maps is a win-win for the Association and residents alike, giving residents another option for
finding out information that previously would have taken a phone call or email. Queries that can be answered by
geothinQ are numerous. Some search examples include: Does the property behind my lot belong to The Landings
Association or The Landings Club? Are there water pipes near my property? Is that a fresh or saltwater lagoon?
Where are Association-maintained walking paths and trails?
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General Manager’s Report

As you move through the sections of this report, I urge you to pay attention to the many accomplishments of the
various Association Departments over the course of 2021, as well as plans for this new year. The balance of this
report includes the consolidated Annual Audited Financial Report of both The Landings Association and
The Landings Company (TLA’s wholly owned subsidiary). The independent Annual Audit of 2021’s financial statements was completed in February 2022. The Auditors issued an unqualified opinion, meaning that our financial
statements are fairly and appropriately presented, without any identified exceptions, and in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). I encourage property owners to spend some time reviewing this
important information about your community and welcome your questions and comments.
Finally, I extend thanks and appreciation to the many residents who help to make this community such a great
place to live, work, and play. Your commitment to the success of our community is evident through your many
volunteer hours, constructive feedback, and genuine support of your Landings Association and our team. It is a
privilege to serve as your Association General Manager and Chief Operating Officer.

Karl Stephens
General Manager/COO
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2021 Board Directors
John Holmquist
President

Eric Larson
Treasurer

Bob Wood
Secretary

Hal Duensing
Director

Andrea Felkins
Director

Tony Martin
Director

Jim Morgan
Director
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Mark Winters
Vice President

Judy Monaco
Director

2022 Board Directors
Mark Winters
President

Herman Stone
Treasurer

Hal Duensing
Director

Tony Martin
Director

Bob Wood
Director

Judy Monaco
Vice President

Bill Bina
Secretary

Andrea Felkins
Director

Cary Shapoff
Director

John Holmquist
Ex-Officio
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TLA Operations Leadership Team
Sean Burgess
Public Works Director

Karl Stephens
General Manager/COO

Karin Condame
Human Resources/
Organizational Effectiveness
Director

Tim Cook
Security Director

Jessica Henderson
Finance Director

Kimberly McDowell
Executive Assistant to the
General Manager

•

Larry Sincoskie
Marinas Director
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Caring.

Erin Schumacher
Community Development
Director
People Name

2021
Committees
EXECUTIVE
DEVELOPMENT
John Holmquist, President
Mark Winters, Vice President
Bob Wood, Secretary
Eric Larson, Treasurer

FINANCE & AUDIT

Eric Larson, Chair
Robert Case
James Dwyer
Andrea Felkins
David Krauthmeier
Rosemary Mackey
Marian Mackle
Tony Martin
Jim Morgan
Victor Shernoff
Mark Winter
Bob Wood
Diane Thompson
Jim Van Epps
Mike Stephens, TLC Liaison
Chip O’Brien, TLCo Liaison
Shari Haldeman, Dept. Contact
Karl Stephens, Dept. Contact
Jessica Henderson, Dept. Contact

GOVERNANCE

Mark Winters, Chair
Judy Monaco
Jim Morgan
Bob Wood
Shari Haldeman, Dept. Contact

STRATEGIC PLANNING
John Holmquist, Chair
Hal Deunsing
Andrea Felkins
Eric Larson
Tony Martin
Judy Monaco
Jim Morgan
Mark Winters
Bob Wood
Shari Haldeman, Dept. Contact

WATER RATE

Jim Van Epps, Chair
Eric Larson
Marian Mackle
Tony Martin
Patty Morgan
Jessica Henderson, Dept. Contact
Karl Stephens, Dept. Contact

Hal Duensing, Chair
Eric Larson
Tony Martin
Mark Winters
Shari Haldeman, Dept. Contact

NOMINATING

Judy Monaco, Chair & Board Liaison
Robert Chandis
Mark Toth
Lynn Townsend
Deb Werner
Mark Winters
Susan Wood

STRATEGIC WATER

Eric Larson, Chair
Terry Breyman
Rick Cunningham
Hal Deunsing
Andrea Felkins
Bill Foster, Sr.
Bob Hainly
Ron Kolat
Patricia Morgan
Jeff Muzzy
Lee Maine, Utilities, Inc.
Ron Medders, Utilities, Inc.
Steven Freund, TLC Liaison
Chris Steigelman, TLC Liaison
Shari Haldeman, Dept. Contact
Sean Burgess, Dept. Contact

REGULATORY
COMMITTEES
ARCHITECTURAL
REVIEW

STANDING
COMMITTEES
COMMUNICATIONS

Maryce Cunningham, Chair
Caitlin Anckner
Patrick Breslin
Anita Clos
Linda Fidler
Brian Mitchell
Michael Newman
Lisa Olson
Chris Savage
Judy Monaco, Board Liaison
Karl Stephens, Dept. Contact
Lynn Lewis, Dept. Contact

PUBLIC WORKS

Bob Egan, Chair
Terry Breyman
Michael Congleton
James Corley
Hal Evans
David Grosse
George Fidler
Ron Kolat
Russell Liedtke
Kathy Siler
Richard Sullivan
Jerry Thompson
Mark Winters, Board Liaison
Sean Burgess, Dept. Contact

MARINAS

Mark Piven, Chair
Cameron Aldrich
Zackary Bentley
David Denhard, Sr.
George La Penta, Jr.
Doug Powelson
Bill Stallings
Mike Welsh, CCA Contact
Tony Martin, Board Liaison
Larry Sincoskie Dept. Contact

Bill Haeger, Chair
Roger Cayer
Bob Fischer
Albert John
Donald Lieb
Noel Ruppert
Judy Snyder
Jason Somers
Bob Wood, Board Liaison
SECURITY
Erin Schumacher, Dept. Contact Robert Turner, Chair
Anthony Berens
APPEALS
David Canham
Michael, Auen, Chair
Rick Cricenti
John Kosiewicz
Joe Grispo
Allen Norman
Robert Longueira
Brad Siegel
Roger Lundin
Philip Viviani
Carey Ruppert
Graham Inman(Alternate)
Cary Shapoff
Tim Cook, Dept. Contact
Andrea Felkins, Board Liaison
Tim Cook, Dept. Contact

INSURANCE

Cameron Aldrich
Gregory Hoff
Keith Kruegar
Mark Lastner
Donald Lieb
Robert Linnett
Fred Madsen
Karl Stephens, Dept. Contact

SPECIAL
COMMITTEES
DOG PARK

Karen Feeney, Chair
Blake Caldwell
Melissa Chapman
Brandon Fargo
Nancy Lieb
Elizabeth Miller
Ingrid Poppell, Dept. Contact

TALLOW TREE
SUBCOMMITTEE
Ed Conant, Chair
Peter Altman
Bart Davis
Robert Hatch
Al Rosenbaum
John Taylor
Scott Warden

NEIGHBORS
HELPING NEIGHBORS
Lynn Gensamer, Chair
Sandy Caruso
Raymond Ernst
Marilyn Ratliff
Callie Ryan
Caryl Warner

ATHLETIC COMPLEX

Jan Bishop, Chair
Caitlin Anckner
Bill Bayfield
Pat Brooks
Amy Donahue
Brett Feemster
David Krautheimer
Jim Van Epps, Board Liaison
Sean Burgess, Dept. Contact
Amber Capps, Dept. Contact
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Communications & Community Outreach
Communications and Community Outreach Mission Statement

The mission of the Communications and Community Outreach (CCO) Department is to provide timely and
effective communications, as well as internal human resources. The department consists of the Communications
Program and Human Resources/Organizational Effectiveness.

2021 HIGHLIGHTS
Landings Association Website (www.landings.org) and Social Media Sites
In 2021, focus continued on promoting the social media sites as well as the
SeeClickFix and Smart911 (formerly Swift911) technologies. The Landings
Association’s Facebook Group page continues to grow and remains our mostused social media platform. The homepage the Association’s website (www.
landings.org) received a facelift in 2021 to give the site a more updated look.
Modifications included improved search functionality, a fresh color scheme, the
removal of the large background photo collage to open real estate on the page
for more needed resources, and a sliding picture menu of the most frequently used areas of the site located at
the bottom of the page for easy access. Additionally, a social organization section was added to the site. This area
allows island organizations to share information about their organization so that potential members can filter by
areas of interest (e.g., education, philanthropy, crafts, etc.) and contact them regarding membership. The Marinas
Live Cameras and Geographic Information Systems-based (GIS) interactive maps, powered by an application
called geothinQ, were also brought back by popular demand. Queries that can be answered by geothinQ include:
Does the property behind my lot belong to The Landings Association or The Landings Club? Are there water pipes
near my property? Is that a fresh or saltwater lagoon? Where are Association-maintained walking paths and trails?
Work to improve the social media platforms and the website will continue in 2022.

The Landings Journal is the publication-of-record for The Landings Association,
providing a monthly update on Landings Association Board issues, department
progress, community announcements, and future events. Advertising revenue
helps offset the printing and distribution costs.

Community Communications

The Landings on Skidaway Island - 2021 Residential Directory

The Landings Journal

2021 Landings Residential Directory

105105

Community Communications include production and/or publication of voting
packets, this Annual Report, and the Residential Directory. These media inform
residents in a timely manner and fulfill the legal requirements of the Association.
In addition, advertisements in the Residential Directory continue to provide a
significant revenue stream for the Association. Community Communications
also continued livestreaming the monthly Board Meeting, made more important
during this time of COVID-19. In 2021, we installed a permanent audio/video
system in the Association’s conference room to increase sound quality and
enhance the viewing experience of our residents. With the unpredictability of
COVID-19, the system has allowed TLA the ability to have hybrid meetings, with
some attendees participating in person and others online.
The department coordinates governmental outreach, such as an Annual Landings Roundtable, as well as
other meetings and encounters with elected and appointed officials, and includes such activities as Chamber
of Commerce functions. This outreach helps The Landings when support from elected or appointed officials is
required and promotes the community in the regional public eye for community goodwill and marketing.
Photo By Karen Dove Barr
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Communications & Community Outreach
Community Programs

In 2021, with few signs that COVID-19 would make a grand exit, the Association discontinued the remainder of
its Community Programs, but continued offering the Annual Meeting, Hurricane Town Hall Meeting, and other
Town Halls as needed.
As we learn more about safely navigating the new normal created by COVID-19, the Association will gauge the
temperature of the community on reinstating community programs versus budge constraints.

Human Resources/Organizational Effectiveness

The purpose of the Human Resources/Organizational Effectiveness Program is to ensure organizational
compliance with employment laws and best practices; maintain accurate workforce data and generate needed
reports; oversee employee benefit programs and worker’s compensation administration; and lead an effective
and efficient hiring process to meet the needs of various departments.
The Human Resources/Organizational Effectiveness Director supports organizational development efforts
through communicating strategic updates, scheduling periodic inter-departmental meetings, and gathering
feedback regarding professional development needs, and is a knowledgeable asset to employees as they navigate
available HR programs, tools, and benefits.
Recruiting, selection, and retention continued to be a challenge in 2021. The year-end turnover rate was 35.7%,
with the majority of turnover being voluntary. There were five involuntary terminations. The primary reason (41%)
given by employees for leaving was career change or pay advancement opportunity. On average, it took 51 days
to fill positions in 2021. The labor market has become increasingly competitive as area employers increase wages
and starting pay rates to attract talent. Some wage adjustments were made to stay competitive.
The department also began developing, and continues to develop, strategies to retain the current staff as well
as attract new talent. This includes focusing on employee engagement and creating flexible schedules. The
compensation plan, including method and philosophy, are also being reviewed to ensure TLA stays competitive
with the market.
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Communications & Community Outreach
An organization-wide staffing analysis began in 2021 and continues into 2022 for some departments. For each department, employees were asked to complete a job analysis questionnaire. The questionnaire asked them to list their
daily, weekly, quarterly, and annual duties and identify duties that either were not done, or they believed were unnecessary. HR followed up by conducting interviews with the supervisors and employees to collect feedback on the
general operations of the department. This information was reviewed and analyzed by HR, the Department Director,
and Executive Leadership to determine whether staffing needs are being met to effectively achieve the department
goals. Job Descriptions were also updated as necessary based on the information received from the employees.
After a year of remote working, strict mask mandates, and limited gatherings, restrictions began to lift in 2021, allowing the staff to host a few outdoor events. The availability of the COVID-19 vaccine also provided a level of comfort
to resume in-person meetings. However, most training courses and meetings remained virtual, using the Learning
Management System which hosts and tracks online trainings for each employee.

TLA Employee Thanksgiving 2021
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Community Development
Community Development Mission Statement

The mission of the Community Development Department is to strengthen the long-term competitive position of
The Landings by maintaining, protecting, and improving the quality of the community housing stock. Programs
within the department include Architectural Review and Community Standards. As well, the department provides
The Landings Association’s staff liaison to the Appeals Committee on an as-needed basis. Each program area
fulfills a specific role to support the strategic objectives of the Association to ensure adherence and consistency
with the architectural standards of The Landings, as well as compliance with the General Declaration of Covenants
and Restrictions and the Private Property Maintenance Standards.

2021 HIGHLIGHTS
Impact of Real Estate Sales and COVID-19 on Daily Operations

Overall, the 2021 workload of the Community Development Department has continued to see dramatic
increases in activity since an initial uptick in March of 2020. This increase is in part due to a surge in property sales
throughout 2020 and 2021, resulting in new owners investing in improvements and renovations. It also coincides
with the COVID-19 pandemic, which has resulted in more residents forgoing travel and spending more time at
home, spurring investment in home improvements such as swimming pools, outdoor amenities, and repairs and
renovation. Supply chain issues and limited availability of contractors have had significant impacts on project
timelines. In 2021, more than 14%, or 191, permits were related to requests for additional time to complete
projects beyond the prescribed permit time frames. The vast majority of these requests were due to the impacts
of COVID-19 on supply chains and contractor availability. COVID-19 continues to impact Landings Association
staffing and meeting formats as well, as remote working and virtual meetings have become commonplace.

Staffing

The Community Development Department now includes five employees to handle the Architectural Review and
Community Standards programs for the community. During 2021, the Community Development Department
structure and work plan was assessed, and a new inspections position was authorized by the Board to increase
the capacity of the department and to address the dramatic increase in activity. Prior to the new inspection
position being filled, routine inspections were conducted at less frequent intervals, and other TLA staff assisted
the department to manage the influx of activity. With the department now fully staffed, all operational duties
have been shifted back to the Community Development Department staff and the quarterly inspection schedule
resumed.

Architectural Review

The Architectural Review Committee (ARC) maintained its
schedule of two meetings per month. In 2021, the committee
reviewed 415 applications, compared to 426 in 2020. This slight
decline is due to the ARC transferring review of alterations
and other minor modifications to department staff late in
2020 in order to manage the massive influx of applications
presented to the committee. This resulted in staff reviewing
more than 700 applications in 2021 which otherwise may
have been presented to the ARC. Pre-review correspondence
with residents, consultants, and contractors continues to
be promoted and encouraged to identify alternatives to
potential problem areas and increased chances of first-pass
success. Community Development continued to partner with
the Public Works Department’s Environmental Manager for
landscape reviews to improve turnaround time and customer
service, with decreased expense.
The construction of 10 homes was completed in 2021.
Another 38 homesites remain under construction and are expected to be completed in 2022. The 1,340 permits
issued in 2021 required one-to-four inspections based on the type of permit issued. Inspections vary based on the
type of permit issued and are categorized into the following: new constructions and major improvements (require
up to four inspections), minor improvements (require up to three inspections), and dumpster/POD permits
(require one final inspection). Approximately 2,350 inspections/site visits were performed to ensure compliance
with the CDD permits and ARC approvals issued in 2021.
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Community Development
Private Property Maintenance Standards (PPMS)

The Private Property Maintenance Standards were adopted in 2015, and minor revisions were made in 2019
to clarify processes and procedures. In 2021, additional revisions to the PPMS documents and the Rules and
Regulations were adopted by the Broad to clarify the criteria of review, remove redundancies, address areas that
may have been omitted from earlier documents, and to make them more approachable for residents and property
owners.

Community Standards

The Community Standards program focuses heavily on proactive inspections to ensure compliance with the
Private Property Maintenance Standards (PPMS) while simultaneously educating residents to recognize violations
they may not be aware of and encourage voluntary compliance. In 2021, staff implemented a six-month cycle to
ensure that every home within the community is inspected a minimum of two times per year. This was a reduction
in scheduled site visits from four per year to two per year as staffing shortages during the year prohibited more
frequent inspections.
Once a violation has been identified, staff attempt to contact the property owner with a courtesy phone call
and/or email to notify them of the violation and provide guidance towards resolution. If staff are unable to make
contact through a courtesy notification, a formal notification will be sent to the owner indicating that they have 10
days from the postmarked date to:
1. Correct the violation within 10 days, if practical; or
2. Advise staff within 10 days of a Plan of Action that reflects how and when the identified item(s) will be brought
to standards; or
3. File an Appeal within 10 days to the Appeals Committee.
If the owner does not respond, additional notices will follow in accordance with the PPMS stated process. Under
very rare circumstances, a violation may result in fines or suspensions. At the end of 2020, a total of 45 properties
remained in violation. Throughout 2021, an additional 325 properties were identified with PPMS violations. Of the
violations which were resolved, 255 (or 99%) of them were done so through voluntary compliance. At the end of
2021, a total of 113 properties remained in the PPMS violations process.

Architectural Review

2022 EXPECTATIONS

The Architectural Review Committee will maintain its schedule of two meetings per month, which creates a
more efficient and effective turnaround time from permit application to formal approvals and Chatham County
Permits. These meetings have been being held virtually via Microsoft Teams since April of 2020 to ensure safe
physical distancing is maintained. Due to the recurrent spikes in COVID-19 cases, it is expected that meetings
will continue to be held virtually through 2022, with the goal of returning to a hybrid format where the committee
members meet in-person while the applicants can attend via Microsoft Teams. Pre-review correspondence with
residents, consultants, and contractors will continue to be promoted and encouraged to identify alternatives to
potential problem areas and increased chances of first-pass success.
Staff, in conjunction with the Architectural Review Committee, intend to revise the ARC Guidelines, which will
provide additional clarification on certain aspects of the Guidelines, all while improving the ARC process and
allowing the committee the necessary latitude to continue effectively in its role.

New Construction

As The Landings approaches final build out, the last remaining vacant lots have been quickly transitioning to
new homesites. The number of remaining undeveloped parcels without active construction stands at 148. Based
on the current ARC activity, it is likely that 20 sites will begin construction in 2022. Meanwhile, it is estimated that
38 sites currently under construction will be completed by the close of 2022. These new homesites and the those
currently under construction will require roughly 230 new construction inspections to verify compliance with the
approved plans and Architectural Guidelines.

Technology and Communication Upgrades

Through 2022, we will continue our analysis of CitizenServe’s and other similar permitting software to determine
which is the appropriate program to use to streamline the permitting and inspection processes. While CitizenServe
is already utilized by the Inspection staff for documenting, tracking, and processing compliance enforcement
cases, the permitting side may be the avenue needed to allow residents and contractors to apply for permits
more seamlessly online, pay review fees and construction deposits, track the review process of their projects, and
request inspections and construction deposit refunds through one platform.
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Community Development
Staffing Levels

Based on current and projected department activity levels, staffing will remain at five employees to ensure
satisfactory customer service. With an expectation of more than 900 permits being issued, which will require a
minimum of 1,850 site visits/inspections and more than 17,680 proactive routine inspections planned to ensure
that properties are compliant with the Private Property Maintenance Standards, all employees will be fully utilized.

Training, Education, and Outreach

A major initiative of the Inspection team is to continue to provide robust Educational Courtesy Notices for
properties at risk of violation. In 2021, more than 450 property owners were contacted with educational information
and assistance. It is expected that 2022 will result in similar opportunities to engage the residents. Emphasizing our
focus on these types of properties has resulted in increasing our interaction with residents early on and allowing
staff to help resolve issue before they became violations. Community outreach will be accomplished throughout
the year by expanding the use of educational newsletter articles, videos, and personal consultations with Realtors,
property owners, and contractors.
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Finance

Finance Mission Statement

The mission of Finance Department is to manage prudently the community’s financial resources, safeguarding
assets; to assure compliance with applicable laws and policies governing financial transactions; to research and
provide sound investment strategies; to build strong financial relationships; to provide superior customer service
in financial matters; to provide timely and accurate information about The Landings Association’s financial
position; and to support the Information Technology of the entire organization. The major programs provided are
Accounting and Annual Dues (Assessments) Collection, Financial Management and Reporting, Insurance and
Risk Management, and Information Technology.

2021 HIGHLIGHTS and 2022 GOALS
Accounting, Collections (Assessment and Non-Assessment), and Accounts Payable

The department processes 4,420 Annual Dues invoices. During 2021, residents had the option to pay their dues
in full or on a quarterly or monthly payment plan. The department processes a combined total of more than 405
electronic ACH bank payments, monthly and quarterly, for those owners who choose to enroll in a payment plan.
On a monthly basis, the department generates the following invoices: Marinas storage and sales statements,
Service Agreement statements to The Landings Club, Landings Journal advertiser statements, resident mailbox/
gate repair statements, and miscellaneous vendor repair invoices.
During 2021, testing began for an online payment portal for Non-Assessment accounts. This will provide the
customer an option to receive their invoices electronically, log into their account to view the transaction details for
the related charges, and make a secure payment online for the balance owed. This payment option will be placed
into service in April 2022 for all Non-Assessment account holders.
Working with a collections attorney, the department is responsible for the collection of late Assessment and
Non-Assessment payments and for helping other departments in the collection of overdue invoices.
The department is responsible for auditing and depositing daily cash receipts from the reception desk, Security
gates, and Marinas activities. These include vehicle and Dog Park registrations, which average $2,000/day; daily
pass fees, which average $1,000/day from the North Gate; and retail operations at the Marinas, which average
$500/day, including gas and fuel sales.
Payments of invoices are routed through the Association’s electronic purchase order program and are paid
within 14 days of receipt or by the payment terms noted on the invoice. Checks, direct debit, and credit card
payments totaling approximately $165,000 are issued weekly from the Operating, Reserves, and Escrow bank
accounts, combined.
The department maintains and depreciates a ledger containing more than 860 personal assets, worth a net book
value of more than $7,800,000. Personal assets are items over $1,000 that can be depreciated and resold by the
Association.

Financial Planning and Budgeting

The Landings Association’s Board Financial Policy requires that an Annual Budget, accompanied by information
on staffing, new and expanded activities, capital expenditures, and work plans, be adopted by the Board of
Directors prior to the beginning of each year.
Budget preparation affords the departments the opportunity to reassess the goals as well as the strategies for
accomplishing them to ensure alignment with the Association’s Strategic Plan and core mission. Even though the
Budget is reviewed by the Board of Directors in the fall and adopted in December, its preparation begins at least
six months prior, with projections of reserves, revenues, and financial capacity. It is against this backdrop that
departmental expenditure requests are formulated and reviewed.
The Finance Committee of The Landings Association works extensively with staff during the fall to develop a
final recommended Budget to the Board of Directors, which is adopted by the Finance Committee and the Board
in December.

Financial Management and Reporting

The purpose of the Financial Management Program is to provide information to the staff, committees, Board of
Directors, and property owners on financial policy, financial management, reporting, and other matters affecting
the short- and long-term financial condition of the Association. The department provides support to the General
Manager/COO in the development of the Long Range Financial Plan, Assessments, and annual operating and
capital reserves budgets, and makes recommendations to the Finance Committee and Board of Directors when
appropriate.
The Finance Department researched potential banking options and recommended moving all accounts to
Ameris Bank in 2017 with Board of Directors’ approval. The department will perform a formal request for proposal
of comprehensive banking services during 2022 to ensure the best interest rates, banking fees, services, and
technologies. This initiative is currently underway for 2022.
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Investments of available funds are made in accordance with Board policy. The interest rates remained at a
minimum level during 2021 following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Association purchased two
certificates of deposit during 2021 and one in 2022, as of this writing, to maximize interest rates. The Association
continued to participate in the Insured Cash Sweep Program with Ameris Bank, allowing us to remain federally
insured on all our cash balances held with Ameris Bank. The market will continue to be reevaluated, and funds
will be placed in accordance with the Board Financial Policy and with guidance of the Investment Subcommittee.
The Association renewed an existing line of credit with Ameris Bank in May 2021. The line of credit is valued at
$5,000,000 and has a two-year term with no fees paid until it is exercised for use.
In 2021, the Assessment and Non-Assessment Collections Board Policy was updated to provide increased
direction to Finance staff. The policy states that unpaid Assessment accounts with balances on December 31 are
turned over to the collections attorney. The Non-Assessment Collections Policy states that accounts are turned
over to the collections attorney when they reach a balance of $2,000 and 90 days past due.
The department also compiles historical research used to produce benchmark data, which is valuable in analyzing
the financial condition of the Association. Internal audits are conducted to ensure accuracy and compliance with
applicable laws, regulations, and policy.
Financial Reporting provides timely and accurate information about the financial condition and performance
of the Association to the staff, committees, Board of Directors, and Members. This is accomplished by issuing
draft financial reports within seven working days of the closing of the month and 30 working days of the closing
of the year. On a monthly basis, subsidiary ledgers are reconciled to reported balances to ensure the accuracy
of the financial information being distributed. The accuracy of the reported balances is tested during an annual
external audit conducted by an independent CPA firm. The annual audit should result in an unqualified opinion,
no reportable conditions, and no significant recommendations.

Insurance and Risk Management

The purpose of the Insurance and Risk Management program is to acquire insurance for those areas of
operation and assets in which the Association risk control techniques do not adequately cover potential losses
the Board is not willing to assume. Risk control techniques include exposure avoidance, loss prevention, loss
reduction, segregation of exposures, and contractual transfer. This is accomplished by understanding the value of
the Association’s assets by conducting periodic appraisals, understanding the areas of potential exposure, having
general knowledge of the insurance market, and monitoring losses. A committee of residents with expertise
in the insurance and risk management industry assists in the annual renewal of insurance policies and makes
recommendations for Finance Committee and Board review and approval.
In April 2021, the Association had a property appraisal conducted by Specialty Property Appraisals, LLC. The
Landings Association’s Insurance Committee met in July 2021 to review the property appraisal, the Association’s
current insurance coverage, and market trends. Based on feedback from the Insurance Committee, the Association
obtained updated building valuations in January 2022 before insurance renewal documents were submitted for the
next plan year, will have valuations completed every 4-5 years, and will consider an Enterprise Risk Management
Program to measure the Association’s uninsurable risk. The Strategic Plan that was adopted in 2021 includes an
Enterprise Risk Management Program, and work is underway for that initiative.

Information Technology

The purpose of the Information Technology (IT) Program is to provide ever-improving levels of customer
service to residents, contractors, other external customers, and employees by implementing, administering, and
supporting The Landings Association’s technology systems, which include computer hardware and software,
phones, security cameras, and other IT systems. Most of this support has been outsourced. In 2020, the Association
switched providers to a local firm that can provide more robust support to this ever more important function. The
focus in 2021 was on increased support for all of the Association’s internal IT systems as well as on researching
providing online access to Association member accounts for Non-Assessment payments and history.
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Marinas Mission Statement

The Landings Association’s Marinas are a premier amenity open year-round to all residents of The Landings. The
mission of the Marinas Department is to provide and promote boating and waterfront activities within The Landings
by operating and maintaining two marinas - Landings Harbor Marina and Delegal Creek Marina. The Marinas provide
vessel storage accommodations through wet slips, dry storage slips, Jet Ski and Wave Runner racks, as well as kayak
storage. In addition, the Marinas own a fleet of eight Rhodes 19 and three J24 sailboats as part of The Landings Sailing
Program, and have Ship’s store at each location, boat washing services for dry storage boaters, and kayak rentals from
Delegal Creek Marina. User fees, sales of goods, and services provide revenue to fund the Marinas’ operations.

			
Delegal Creek Marina

Landings Harbor Marina

2021 HIGHLIGHTS
Facility Operations and Amenity Improvements

◊ Landings Harbor Marina and Delegal Creek Marina maintained 100 percent occupancy throughout the year. We
expect this trend to continue throughout 2022.
◊ Both Marinas are maintaining a combined waiting list of more than 175 property owners seeking storage for their
vessels.
◊ Landings Harbor added four jet ski/wave runner racks to relieve some of the waiting list. Occupancy is now at 21,
with no available space for additional racks.
◊ Landings Harbor Marina contracted the dredging project with Estate Management Services, Inc. to remove silt
that accumulates in the basin for vessel traffic to navigate within the marina.
◊ To provide increased opportunities for boaters in dry storage during the summer, the Marinas extended summer
hours during the weekends until 8 p.m. and until 6 p.m. during the weekdays.
◊ One of the two Landings Harbor marine forklifts underwent a major refurbishment in 2021. New main lift
cylinders, roller bearings, swing fork cylinders, and mast chains were replaced as part of this project. Maintaining
the forklifts is vital to the operations at Landings Harbor Marina’s dry storage facility. Performing this work extends
the life expectancy of the forklift.
◊ The tiki bar was renamed to the Dockside Bar through a vote by the Skidaway Island Boat Club members. Marinas
staff and members from the Marinas Committee replaced the bar top with a hardwood that is more durable and
attractive than the previous bar top.
◊ Five of the eight Rhodes 19 vessels in The Landings Association Sailing Club were repainted by the Marinas staff.
This was well received and helped bring 24 new members to the Club, which has a total membership of 45.
◊ To provide a high level of service at the Landings Harbor Marina, four certified marine forklift operators were
employed during the year. A total of 13,984 vessels movements were recorded in BoatCloud, a live reservation app
for boaters to schedule vessel movements conveniently from their smartphone.
◊ Moffat and Nichol Engineering firm conducted a site evaluation and concept development plan for Landings
Harbor and the adjacent waterfront park. The Landings Harbor Project Team was selected from a list of volunteer
residents who have interest and backgrounds that align with the scope of the proposed project. Additionally,
several focus group sessions were conducted with residents to discuss preferences for the properties. The Project
Team delivered the results to the Association’s Board of Directors for review, direction, and future vision for the
Marina.
◊ Terracon Consultants, Inc. performed geotechnical engineering services at Landings Harbor Marina in
preparation of the dry rack replacement project. The results were delivered to dry stack building contractors as
part of the engineering design and construction for the new rack structures.
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Marinas Events and Programs

Events and activities that historically take place at both marinas annually include sunset cruises, HarborFest, and
the Landings Harbor Annual Spanish Mackerel Tournament. All events/activities scheduled for 2021 were cancelled
due to COVID-19.
Skidaway Island Boat Club’s annual Low Country Hook Regatta took place in 2021 with limited landside events. The
race was a point-to-point ocean race, which started outside Harbor Town, Hilton Head and finished right outside
Landings Harbor. The regatta is scheduled to take place again in 2022.

Carefree Boat Club at The Landings
Carefree Boat Club at The Landings is an alternative means for Landings residents to enjoy a boating lifestyle without
owning a boat. April 2021 marked the seventh year of Carefree Boat Club at The Landings operated under Simply
Boating, LLC. Carefree was purchased by Moon River Boating, LLC (Andrew Jones) in July 2021 and continues to
make improvements to the fleet of vessels and has replaced three of the vessels to date. Currently, Carefree has a total
of nine boats, with more than 100 Landings resident members. Carefree leases five wet slips at Delegal Creek Marina
and four dry storage slips at Landings Harbor Marina and an office space from The Landings Association at Delegal
Creek Marina’s Sunset building.
Marine Repair Service
The outsourced Marine Services Center continues to be operated by Phil Dolan Yacht Services. Dolan Yacht Services,
a certified Yamaha and Suzuki Marine dealer, is under a four-year contract that expires at the end of 2022.
Kayak Rentals
Delegal Creek Marina has a fleet of single and tandem kayaks for rent to Landings residents for a nominal fee. A
unique launch dock designed for kayaks is located at the beginning of C-Dock to provide a secure and stable platform
for beginners and seasoned kayakers to enter and exit with ease. Rentals are available during operating hours and are
equipped with life jackets, kayak paddles, and seats.
The Landings Association Sailing Program
This program provides an opportunity for Landings residents to learn how to sail in a supportive environment
without owning their own sailboat. The Marinas own eight Rhodes 19 and three J24 sailboats as part of the Landings
Association Sailing Program. Many sailing activities involve other local sailing clubs that enhance participation and
make the program a friendly, competitive activity. The program is fully managed by its members, who also handle
much of the required maintenance. Marinas staff assist in maintenance repairs and service to maintain this asset of
the Association.
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2022 Expectations and Special Projects

◊ Occupancy levels at Delegal Creek Marina and Landings Harbor Marina are at 100%. Currently, Landings Harbor
Marina has a total of 306 vessels. Delegal Creek Marina has a total of 59 boats. More than 175 Landings residents
are on a waiting list for vessel storage at the Marinas. With high occupancy and with the number of residents
waiting for space, the Marinas are projected to maintain maximum occupancy for 2022 and beyond.
◊ The Marinas expect retail revenue targets and high occupancy levels for 2022 through retention of existing
customers and further enhancement to the Marinas’ amenities and retail items available for purchase.
◊ Staff will continue working with dry stack contractors to replace the rack structures. The new replacement rack
configuration will add to the occupancy for dry storage and allow for most vessels to be stored in the rack structures
with proper height and width clearances. The increasing costs associated with this project is expected to reduce
soon, and TLA is optimistic of bringing this project to fruition in 2022.
◊ Annual dredging of Landings Harbor basin is expected to start in February 2022. Dolan Yacht Services has
constructed a dredge specific for the basin and has been awarded the contract for 2022.
◊ The underground fuel tanks at Landings Harbor have reached their life expectancy. Proposal requests are being
received and reviewed for this project to take place in 2022.
◊ The Marinas staff will refurbish and return Harvest Moon to The Landings Harbor Sailing Program fleet. This will
include fresh paint and necessary rigging to provide a quality platform for novice sailors to learn from. The vessel
was out of commission for several years while membership levels were low. Bringing this vessel back into service
is necessary to maintain the program’s level of activity. The Sailing Program membership is expected to continue
to increase, as the vessels are being managed under new procedures to maintain these TLA assets.

Photo By Doug Powelson
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Public Works Mission Statement

The mission of the Public Works Department is to ensure that The
Landings is a well-maintained community which operates at a good
value for its property owners by maintaining, repairing, and improving
all infrastructure, equipment, and grounds owned and operated by
The Landings Association. The department consists of the following
five program areas: Contract Administration, Buildings and Grounds,
Construction, Environmental, and Fleet. Each program area fulfills
a specific role to support the strategic objectives of the department to
ensure the Association’s services and facilities provide an aesthetically
pleasing, secure lifestyle for residents.
The Association uses a Capital Asset Management Plan (CAMP), which
captures all assets over $1,000 owned by the Association, to organize
and manage the short- and long-term capital repair and replacement
reserves fund. CAMP is evaluated and updated annually for the useful life, remaining life, and current year cost
of the assets. Once evaluated to ensure that the asset replacement or repair is necessary, these items are included
and funded within the Capital Reserves Fund.

2021 HIGHLIGHTS
Staffing Changes and COVID-19 Challenges

In 2021, the Public Works Department underwent some staff turnover across all sub-departments (Environmental,
Buildings and Grounds, and Construction). Although maintenance cycles and projects continued to progress
as scheduled, staff devoted additional time to recruitment, interviews, training sessions, and onboarding that
otherwise could be directed towards departmental goals and objectives.
Despite the continued hardships and setbacks COVID-19 created, the Public Works Department continued
to maintain all service levels, provide excellent customer service, and complete projects in a timely manner, all
while maintaining a safe work environment for the Association. Staff spent (and continue to do so) additional
time ordering and maintaining an adequate stock of cleaning supplies and personal protective equipment
(gloves, masks, etc.) along with various other duties to ensure that staff and any community visitors are safer
when entering Association-owned buildings.

2021 Project Carryovers

Staff are carrying over two projects that were previously scheduled for 2021: the Deer Creek North Automatic
Gate Replacement and RV Yard Expansion. Both projects exceeded the budgeted replacement costs (due to
significant increases in materials, labor, etc.) and/or contractor unavailability to complete the projects in a timely
manner. Staff readjusted the budgets and have scheduled both to be completed in 2022.

2021 Contract Extensions

• Landscape Service Agreement (2022-2024): Staff negotiated a zero percent increase for the Association’s
landscape contract for the years 2022-2024. The contract includes the maintenance of TLA common properties,
including lagoon banks, entrance gates, buffer areas, and rights-of-way. The contract also includes common
property improvements, downfall pickup, seasonal color maintenance, assisting in residential requests/
concerns regarding maintenance and unforeseen issues relating to storm cleanup, and drought.
• TLA/TLC Lagoon Services (2022-2023): This contract includes the maintenance of the water quality, aesthetics,
and rainfall run-off for Landings Club-owned lagoons. This contract also includes assistance when staff are
available to help with storm water/storm drain issues. Staff from TLA and TLC renegotiated this contract for
a two-year period.
• Chipping Yard Contract (2022-2023): The Association’s Maintenance Facility III (chipping yard) has been
operated by current South Coast Logging staff since 2009 (Evergreen). All material dumped at the facility is to
originate from within The Landings. Dumping fees to unload tree debris are collected by the Association and
exchanged for TLA dump tickets. TLA dump tickets are collected on site by the contractor and are submitted
to the Association each month. The Association remits 90% of the face value for the dump tickets submitted
by the contractor. Staff negotiated a two-year extension for this contract.
• USDA Contact (2022): The wildlife management program at The Landings began in 1994. This contract
between The Landings Association and the USDA Wildlife Services is renegotiated annually and includes a
long-term deer management program, which includes other offending species, such as feral hogs, vultures,
coyotes, and numerous species of migratory birds. In 2021, staff negotiated a 1.5% increase, which is the first
contract increase in 3+ years.
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2021 Projects
Athletic Field Complex/Landings Community Park Project
In 2021, staff, in conjunction with our contractors, completed the following upgrades to the new Landings
Community Park.
◊ Playground Equipment - This provided improved, safer, and highly innovative equipment for all age levels,
including a zipline, friendship swing, additional climbing and play structures, and a geometric play structure
which promotes continuous play with many points of entry.

◊ Rubberized Walking/Jogging Track - Due to product backorder and shipping delays, the marine matting for
the quarter-mile track was scheduled to be installed in the first quarter of 2022 (originally scheduled for 2021).
This track around the perimeter of the fields replaced the obsolete parkour track and provides a vehicle-free,
low-impact safety surface alternative to the concrete paths throughout the community.
◊ Improved Lighting - Enhanced lighting, including electrical upgrades and timers, were installed across the
complex to enable extended hours of use during winter months for soccer, lacrosse, softball, basketball, the
playground, and track use.
◊ Pavilion - A 24’ x 24’ pavilion was installed to provide a shaded respite from the sun and an outdoor gathering
spot for family gatherings or birthday parties as well as for parents during team practices. The Pavilion also
includes the addition of a concrete base and picnic tables for gatherings and small parties.
◊ Safety Fencing/Netting - This replaced the basketball backstop/dugout fence and the perimeter fence, while
adding safety netting along third base.
◊ Equipment Repair/Replacement - The basketball court was resurfaced, and the basketball goals were
replaced with new, MegaSlam goals. Additional benches were installed around the perimeter walking path,
new trash cans were installed, and picnic tables were added underneath the pavilion for additional seating
options.
◊ Grounds Repairs - The irrigation system at the ballfield was replaced with improved drainage around the
amenity, which included the removal of brick walkway and selective tree removal.

Street Repair and Maintenance Program

The Landings Association has approximately 91 miles of roadways. These assets have an average useful lifespan
of 15-27 years, based on road usage, among other factors.
The purpose of the Annual Street Resurfacing and Repair Project is to resurface and/or repair identified roads
based on their longevity and condition, with final selection determined by physical inspection, including core
samples. In 2021, the following roads were replaced: Delegal Road, Landings Way South from Huntingwood
Retreat to Palmetto Club entrance, Mercer Road, and Landings Way North from Tidewater Way to Bartram Road
(and up to the first entrance of Wickersham Drive). The project was funded through the Capital Reserves Fund.
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Jetter Trailer and Retrofit

In 2021, the Public Works Department purchased a new piece of equipment (shown below) from Southern Vac
to clean storm drains. Staff demoed this cleaning system in 2020 as a cost-saving measure for the organization.
This equipment and retrofit are more effective and easier to use than our previous jetter truck. Additionally, this
piece of equipment does not require a CDL driver and can be hooked up to our pickup trucks via trailer hitches.
The cleaning system also allows staff to reach tighter spaces than our current truck. This equipment purchase was
funded through the Capital Reserves Fund.

Moon River and Deer Creek Deep Well Replacements

The Landings Association has three deep wells located in the community, which provide irrigation to turfed
areas: Moon River Gate (which also supplies irrigation to Dream Maker Circle), Deer Creek Village Gate, and the
Main Gate. The deep wells were originally installed in 2007 and have a useful life of approximately 12-15 years.
The Deer Creek Village Gate and Main Gate deep wells were replaced in 2021, as the electrical breaker and pump
deteriorated quicker than originally anticipated, thus requiring replacement. Both replacements were funded
through the Capital Reserves Fund.

Various Department Equipment and Furniture Purchases

In 2021, the Public Works Department replaced several equipment and furniture items, including a pipe plug
to block water flow in a storm water pipe and assist in the dewatering of a lagoon, new conference room tables
for TLA’s Administration Building, the ice machine for the Administration Building, and the refurbishment of the
USDA deer cooler. All items were funded through the Capital Reserves Fund.

Annual Community Paths Repair/Replacement Project

The purpose of the Annual Community Paths Repair/Replacement Project is to improve the
community paths that are significantly deteriorated and/or present potential safety hazards.
Upon completion of the 2021 repairs, 95% of all community paths are now constructed of
concrete, rather than asphalt. The 2021 project included the replacement of the following
asphalt paths: Landings Harbor to Bartram Road (2,592 LF), Marshwood #12 to Chatuachee
Crossing (606 LF), Tidewater Way to Little Comfort Road (1,529 LF), Little Comfort Road to
Little Comfort Road (1,420 LF), Sundew Road to The Village (2,152 LF), Morning Marsh Road
to Yam Gandy Road (2,402 LF), Pennystone Retreat to Crazy Possum Lane (816 LF), Cricket
Court to #5 Terrapin Point (145 LF), and Half Penny Circle to Palmetto Club (475 LF). The
project was funded through the Capital Reserves Fund.

Stop Bar Restriping Program

The purpose of the stop bar/line pavement reflective striping program is to better the safety of community
members and guests by distinguishing the point in which vehicular and pedestrian traffic must stop before
entering an intersection. There are approximately 475 stop bars and 60 crossovers/crosswalks located throughout
the community. In 2021, the stop bars, crossovers, and crosswalks were restriped in Phase 3 (Oakridge). This work
was funded operationally.

25

Public Works
Sign Painting Program

The Association refurbishes and repaints 1/3 (approximately 1,500 units) of the signs, mailbox posts, and yard
plaques throughout the community on an annual basis. The 2021 project focused on the painting of a total of 1,084
mailbox posts, 109 street signs, and 149 yard plaques in the following areas of the community: all streets in the Phase
3 (Oakridge) of the community and all streets in Phase 4 (Deer Creek). This project was completed by inhouse staff
in 2021 due to the significant increase in the total cost to complete this project (which is normally contracted out).
Reasons for this increase are primarily due to staffing shortages, increases in the cost of
materials, and/or a lack of required insurance to cover employees and the work within
the project scope. This project was funded through the Association’s operational budget.

Captain’s Lounge Patio Furniture Replacement

The Delegal Creek Marina Captain’s Lounge on the fixed pier is a community amenity
that is available to all residents on a first come, first-served basis. The current furnishings
in the lounge were repurposed in 2016 from the Delegal Marina Sunset Pavilion screenedin porch area. Initially, staff received favorable reviews on the repurposed furnishings.
However, the furniture now has far exceeded its useful life expectancy. As a result, staff
continued to receive residential feedback regarding the condition and disrepair of the
existing furniture. In 2021, new furniture was purchased and installed for the Captain’s
Lounge and was funded through the Capital Reserves Fund.
Staff also installed four new ceiling fans for the Captain’s Lounge, which also were
funded through the Capital Reserves Fund.

Monument Sign Replacement

The Landings Association has three large monument signs located at the
Main Gate, Marshwood/North Gate Entrance, and Moon River entrances of the
community. The Moon River sign was replaced in 2021 and funded through the
Capital Reserves Fund.

HVAC Units

The Landings Association maintains a total of 16 HVAC units at its facilities.
Each unit has an approximate useful life of 12 years, and a cost-benefit analysis
is completed annually for all units scheduled for replacement in the Capital
Reserves Fund based on purchase price and energy efficiency. In 2021, the
units located in the second story of the Administration Building (Community
Development Department offices) and the Deer Creek Village Gate Access Control
Facility were replaced and funded through the Capital Reserves Fund.

Storm Drain Survey and Repair

Staff continued to monitor and clean any problem storm drains following
the heavy rainfall in 2021. Staff contracted Southeast Pipe Survey to repair 10
sections of storm drain pipes of varying length and sizes in the following areas
of the community: Landings Way North from Romerly Road to Barnwell Road,
including the center island along Landings Way North. ACE Construction was also
contracted to complete an unplanned repair on a pipe section on Coventry Close.
These repairs required immediate attention to avoid future damage to additional
infrastructure, including the roadway, curbing, and surrounding properties. These
repairs were funded through the Capital Reserves Fund.

Small Operational Improvements to Common Properties

Throughout the year, staff continually evaluate ways to improve maintenance
cycles, our amenities, and common properties. In 2021, the department installed
bench pads around the new perimeter walking path at the Landings Community Park,
golf cart parking and new sod at Landings Harbor, and additional perimeter fencing
around the ball field to help preserve the community asset.
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Security Mission Statement

The Security Department’s mission is to promote a secure lifestyle through community service in three major
operational areas: Access Management, Emergency Service Assistance, and Patrol Operations. Department goals
are to enhance residents’, guests’, and employees’ safety and security, maintain the community’s privacy, and
deter illegal activity. The Security Director is responsible for emergency planning; law enforcement, fire, and EMS
liaison; and general Security operations. Landings Security has three shifts, and much like a police department,
each shift has a shift supervisor and an assistant supervisor.

2021 HIGHLIGHTS
Security Committee

As a fundamental part of our overall operation, the Security Committee provided valuable feedback on several
matters in 2021. The Golf Cart and Community Path Safety Subcommittee formed in 2020 continued to focus on
safety issues on our community paths. If fewer complaints are an indicator, it appears the efforts they initiated in
2019 to improve community path safety in specific areas of the community were successful. Golf cart complaints
in 2021 were down 61.8% from 2020. Although we have made strides in the right direction, more work remains.
The Security Committee provided valuable input on the overall Rules and Regulations revisions, finalized in
July 2021. Committee members also provided valuable feedback concerning the updated fine structure. We will
continue to seek their insight in 2022 to update additional amenity Rules.

Access Management

The Main Access Control Facility (ACF), also known as the Main Gate, is the primary control center for our access
management functions. It serves as the automated entry system’s data network hub for our gates. The Main ACF
also is the dispatch center for calls and is staffed 24/7. The Security Department continued to operate without
the Main Gate volunteers in 2021 and did so without increasing staffing hours or costs to residents. The North
(Marshwood) ACF, or North Gate, is staffed from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. Monday through Friday and 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. on
Saturday. The Oakridge, Deer Creek, Deer Creek North (McWhorter), Marshview Landing, and Moon River gates
remain unstaffed, except upon request for special functions. However, guests and daily/weekly/monthly pass
vendors who visit these unstaffed gates receive assistance via callboxes.
Vendors have the option to purchase daily, weekly, or monthly passes at the North ACF, or they can buy annual
RFID tags. These funds are part of the Security Department’s operating budget and typically account for revenues
close to $800,000 annually. In 2021, we witnessed a significant increase in sales of daily, weekly, and monthly
passes, to a total of $1,036,762.
The number of vehicle versus gate incidents declined by 15.4 % in 2021. Public Works and Finance staff invoice
negligent or distracted drivers for labor and material costs to fix the gate. Security personnel assist with the process
by reviewing video when necessary. We are hopeful that we will continue to witness a decrease in these incidents
throughout 2022.

Emergency Service Assistance

Emergency service assistance is a critical function provided by the Security Department. Patrols respond to medical
calls, fire/burglar alarms, and emergency incidents in the community.
A patrol officer responds to the scene and assists as needed during emergencies. A second patrol officer provides
an escort for police, fire, and emergency medical service units when available. The escorting patrol officer assists the
emergency response units by providing the most direct route. Upon arrival, they help with traffic control and offer
any assistance as warranted by the police, fire, or emergency medical personnel on the scene.
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The Landings Association has developed professional relationships with private and government entities, and our
combined efforts resulted in the following:
• The Association’s General Manager and Security Director participated in Chatham Emergency Management
Agency’s Command Policy Group meetings and conference calls regarding the coronavirus pandemic and prestorm monitoring situations.
• We maintained a strong working relationship with Chatham Emergency Services and ensured our 24/7 paramedic
coverage continued in 2021.
• Chatham County Coastal Health District continued to be a vital partner during the pandemic.
• The Association and Chatham County Police Department (CCPD) maintained a strong working relationship.
In July 2021, Neighborhood Liaison Officer Danielle Pimental left CCPD and accepted employment outside of
law enforcement. We look forward to establishing a new relationship with Officer Esquina White in 2022. Part 1
Crimes inside the gates decreased by 15.4%, from 26 in 2020 to 22 in 2021. The Landings remains one of the safest
areas to live in unincorporated Chatham County.

Patrol Operations

Patrol officers are responsible for several non-emergency functions, such as routine, preventive patrols, residential
premise checks, various calls for service, and responding to and assisting fire, medical, and law enforcement
agencies. Additionally, patrol officers perform facility and property checks for The Landings Association and The
Landings Company.
As more people received the COVID-19 vaccine and travel restrictions were lifted, we witnessed a 23.5% increase
in residential premise checks during 2021.
As part of our increased enforcement measures for golf cart violation in 2021, Security staff and volunteers held
Courtesy Safety Inspection events near The Landings Club’s pool campuses. In addition to offering a courtesy safety
inspection for golf carts, we verified driver’s licenses and ensured golf carts were correctly registered.

Covenants & Rules Enforcement, Fines, Appeals, and Due Process

Security continues to enforce the Association’s Rules and Regulations and those Covenants not related to property
maintenance, such as short-term rentals, which are prohibited. Although there were no known short-term rental
violations in 2021, staff continue to monitor the vacation rental listings on VRBO, Airbnb, HomeAway, and others for
any rentals fewer than 30 days. Security Officers continued to enforce commercial vendor policies.
At its regularly scheduled meeting in July 2021, the Board of Directors unanimously approved the Association’s
Rules and Regulations changes. A new fine structure was also unanimously approved in December 2021. In addition
to an established minimum and maximum fine for each violation category level, a new category for Moving Vehicle
and Golf Cart Violations was added.
The Appeals Committee heard nine cases for various Covenants, Rules, and Private Property Maintenance
Standards violations. Although the Committee upheld most of the violations issued by staff, they decided that
citations preceding the new fine schedule adopted on January 1, 2021 should be considered warnings and reduced
several fines on that basis and the totality of circumstances for each case. One case for unlicensed driving of a golf
cart was dismissed. The Committee found no previous written warning issued, and there was insufficient evidence
to sustain the violation.
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Security

Technology and Industry Trends and Standards

The Avigilon camera system remained an invaluable tool in 2021. Under our Capital Asset Management Plan,
21 cameras and the Husky Network Video Recorders were replaced. We added license plate recognition software
and licenses for our “tag” cameras as part of the project. Three additional cameras were purchased for coverage of
Landings Community Park.
Throughout 2021, patrol officers continued to utilize Axon’s body-worn and in-car cameras and the Evidence.com
cloud storage for video footage captured. The cameras are scheduled for replacement in 2022. Since we have not
needed any of the video obtained from the in-car cameras, staff will research less expensive options for the in-car
cameras.
The mass notification system continued to be an instrumental resource throughout 2021. Rave Alert purchased the
SwiftReach mass notification in 2021, and the Swift911 platform changed to Smart911. Although the system we used
changed, the content of the messages we sent remained the same.

Team Development

In 2021, we witnessed an increase in the turnover rate from 23% to 44%. There were various reasons for the higher
turnover rate, including disciplinary actions, relocation, personal matters, and changes in career path. The 2021
authorized staffing level remained at 25, including the Security Director and Office Manager positions.
Due to the higher turnover rate this past year, the Security Department welcomed several new officers who
completed their initial orientation and on-the-job training. Training and education continued in the following:
• Security personnel obtained or renewed their American Heart Association’s CPR/AED/First Aid certification.
• Team members worked with Public Works staff to train on the gate equipment and troubleshooting basics.
• New supervisors received leadership training.
• Staff attended a COVID-19 information session regarding the latest information on the pandemic.
• Team members utilized the new Learning Management System to complete Driver Safety training.
• Security leadership personnel attended the annual Global Security Exchange Conference and participated
in various educational sessions focused on the most pressing issues faced by security professionals. Staff also
explored the innovation-stocked exhibit hall and checked out access management, dispatch, and guard tour
vendors.
Management and shift supervisors continued updating Standard Operating Procedures in 2021, and this work,
coupled with revising training forms and methods, will continue in 2022.
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The Landings Company
Courtesy of The Landings Company (TLCo)

VISION STATEMENT

Representing sellers and attracting buyers to enrich the Landings community and property values

MISSION STATEMENT

The Landings Company is a real estate brokerage that attracts and represents home sellers and qualified home
buyers through a comprehensive marketing campaign supported by professional agents and staff providing excellent
service.

VALUES STATEMENT

The Landings Company values:
• Professional agents who are part of the community and its social fabric
• Teamwork among our agents and staff as we all serve one community-owned brand
• Integrity of our words that match our actions
• Accountability to fulfill our commitments to our buyers and sellers at the highest level
• Our partnership with The Landings Association and The Landings Club as we work for the betterment of our
community

Background

The Landings Company is the successor organization to the marketing and sales operations of the developer of The
Landings (Branigar) and has been in operation since 1998. It is a taxable corporation, wholly owned by The Landings
Association and managed by a separate Board of Directors. The Company generates 100% of the funds necessary
for its marketing programs and day-to-day operations, which are conducted by a small staff and approximately 35
independent, licensed Realtors. The Company cooperates with both the Association and the independent Landings
Club to create awareness and ensure that prospective purchasers appreciate the community’s properties, amenities,
programs, and lifestyle.
The Landings consists of 4,420 privately-owned properties with a combined value of well over $2 billion. Extensive
national marketing to attract future homeowners is essential to sustain property values in a community as large as The
Landings due to three mitigating circumstances: its private location, the residential (meaning non-resort) character,
and the lack of substantial incoming corporate relocation activity to Savannah.
More than half of purchasers typically come from outside our local area and are attracted to our community by a
variety of marketing initiatives. With more recently developed communities and many other amenity communities
available, competition is intense for the pool of prospective national buyers.

Marketing Expenditures

From 2004 to 2007, The Landings Company averaged more than $1.3 million spent annually to market the Landings
community. The downturn of the market in 2008 to 2012 resulted in less cash being generated from real estate sales
and, therefore, a decline in the amount spent for marketing. From 2013 to 2021, approximately $1 million to $1.8
million has been spent each year.

2021 HIGHLIGHTS
Community Marketing Programs

After continued fervor in the real estate marketplace fueled by buyers leaving other parts of the country, sales
activity by the Company accelerated to a pace beyond any seen in many years through July, when the lack of housing
inventory began to curtail sales. Buyers continued to be motivated to move away from more populous areas, accelerate
relocation/retirement plans, and avail themselves of a different lifestyle. There were 624 couples/families who visited
the island by participating in Discovery Visits hosted by the Company during 2021, up from 374 in 2020, for a 67%
increase. Those who visited were very serious about making a move.
This record increase in Discovery Visits was realized, despite the nation being in the second year of a global pandemic,
due to the expansive nature of our marketing efforts enabled by our website, broad digital advertising and branding
program, extensive social media presence, and representation within Ideal Living’s platform, all of which provided
cumulative impressions of more than 28 million on viewers. Our website and digital advertising continue to prove
themselves as especially cost-effective tools to produce new buyers. Also critical are the referrals of friends and family
received from our current Landings homeowners.
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Each year, all the earnings of the Company, after modest general and administrative expenses, are committed to
marketing The Landings. While 2021’s sales and visits by prospective buyers were very encouraging, continuous and
perpetual marketing of the community is paramount to our long-term success. The most significant opportunity for
increased sales comes from outside the Savannah area and requires national marketing to bring about the sale of
more of our housing inventory each year. The generally accepted rule in residential real estate is that a four-month
supply is balanced between buyers and sellers (supply and demand). Less indicates that the inventory of homes is
“turning” at a rate that should promote appreciation. A 24% gain in average home values were made in 2021, as our
supply of homes active on the market stayed consistently well below four months and ended the year at 0.20 months.
Note in the Marketing Expenditure graph below that spending of seven figures during each of the last eight years
is due to the success of our real estate operations. However, marketing spending continues to be below our prerecession peak and well below the spending of communities still owned and promoted by developers. Therefore, it is
essential that these funds work at their highest level of efficiency and effectiveness, requiring our dedication towards
continuous improvement.

TLCo Marketing Expenditures, Discovery Visits
& Resulting Total Landings Home Sales
$2,000

Marketing Spend

$1,800

Discovery Visits

$1,600

Total Landings Home Sales

$1,788

$1,400
$1,200
$1,000

$1,009

$929

$0

$1,039

664

$651

$600

$200

$1,073

$1,362

$1,486

$868

$800

$400

$1,280

$1,210

$1,414

$530

$468
372
137

2008

357
226
99
2009

255
137

2010

179

2011

399
217

2012

418

652

262

2014

1

624
536

444

214

2013

686

268

2015

268

2016

262

2017

300

2018

511
323

2019

396
374

2020

349

2021

Keeping in mind the interruptions by hurricanes Irma and Matthew in 2016 and 2017, 2021’s 349 home sales in The
Landings were hampered only by lack of housing inventory.
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2021 HOME CLOSINGS BY
LISTING REAL ESTATE FIRM

349 HOMES CLOSED AT THE LANDINGS YTD DECEMBER

The Landings Company
Berkshire Hathaway
Keller Williams
Savannah R.E. Experts
Celia Dunn Realty
Realty One Group
Seaport Real Estate
ReMax
Coldwell Banker
Seabolt
Austin Hill Realty
Exclusive Georgia Properities
Click-it
Vantosh Realty
Libby Booker Realty
Engel & Volkers
Considine & Co
Coastal Realty Executives
Parker Scott Realty
Brand Name Real Estate
Scott Realty Professionals
Wipper Properties
McIntosh Realty
Redfin Corporation
Weichert Realtors
Tri County GMAC
Judge Realty
Better Homes & Gardens
ERA SE Coastal
Southbridge Realty
Buy Sell Savannah
Properties by Me
Signature Properties
No MLS

33
26
21
11
8
6
5
4
3
3
3
3
3
3
2
2
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

We sell
6 times our nearest
competitor with a
56% share of all
home listings sold
-or27% more than all
the other firms
combined

195

Note: Data collected from Savannah Multilist Corporation through 12-31-2021
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The Landings Company
Real Estate Brokerage Operations

There were 33 real estate firms that listed homes sold in The Landings in 2021, with 24, or 73%, of them listing three
of those homes or less. In its real estate operations, the Company’s market share of home listings sold was dominant,
and the Company represented the seller, the buyer, or both in 72% of all homes closed during the year. This includes
The Landings Company’s 56% listing share of all homes closed and 58% of those closed over $500,000 in 2021.

Collaboration with The Landings Club

The Landings Club is a private club and is a totally separate entity from the Company and the Association. The
amenities and lifestyle the Club offers are key draws for many prospective buyers and, thus, are crucial for all Landings
property values, whether the current owners are Club members or not. The Company and the Club continued to
expand our synergistic efforts in 2021 with the Club’s use of the same advertising firm assisting the Company, the Falls
Agency. In addition, the Club has placed a membership salesperson in the Company’s office to assist prospective
buyers with membership questions and sales.

2022 EXPECTATIONS
Real Estate Market Conditions

We expect market conditions in 2022 to be on par with 2021. However, further reductions in inventory will hamper
sales. The positive impact on values made by our reduced inventory should continue. Based on direct feedback from
interested buyers, cold winters, high taxes, and now the pandemic are causing many to leave their home states in large
numbers. We are now seeing buyers from 29 states, including California, Oregon, and Washington, which historically
has not been the case.

Marketing Expenditures

The Company is planning national, regional, and local real estate marketing expenditures of approximately $1.5
million in 2022, provided sales are in line with the reduced budget expectations due to lack of saleable inventory. As
in past years, the Company may adjust its expenditures up or down based on results during the year as well as other
factors.

Community Marketing Programs

Persistent and sustained efforts to reach those who are likely to consider a move and lifestyle change, as well as those
predisposed to value the amenities of The Landings, will be key to a successful 2022 and beyond.
Marketing efforts will build on successes of the last few years. Our website (www.thelandings.com), which will be
redesigned in 2022, search engine optimization efforts, social media, and other digital tools are crucial to mounting
results and future success.
We will participate in one or more Ideal Living Shows and continue to expand our digital platform’s reach through
social media as well as other digital means to take advantage of the nearly 14 million visitors to Savannah, as well as
those visiting our key competitor communities.
We encourage and appreciate the many property owner referrals of friends and family who visit and are inclined to
fall in love with The Landings. They are also critical to the success of The Landings and The Landings Company.
2021 Board of Directors				2022 Board of Directors
Cliff Frohn, Chair					Marguerite Baxter, Chair
Chip O’Brien, Treasurer				Randy Hatch, Treasurer
Marguerite Baxter, Secretary 			Mike Newman, Secretary
Seth Goodman, Director				Cliff Frohn, Director
Jim Morgan, Director				
Seth Goodman, Director
Mike Newman, Director				
Judy Monaco, Director
Randy Stolt, Director					Randy Stolt, Director						
							
President						Director of Operations
Raoul Rushin						Melba Dasher
Vice President of Sales
		
Broker-in-Charge
Mitch Jacobs						Barbara Foster
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Audited Financial Statements
& Other Information
December 31, 2021 and 2020

Photo By John Taylor
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Treasurer’s Report
February 8, 2022
Dear Fellow Residents,
The audited consolidated financial statements of The Landings Association, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
The Landings Company, together with the unqualified opinion of Holland, Bromley, Barnhill & Brett, LLP, Certified
Public Accountants, are presented on the following pages.
The consolidated financial condition of the Association and the Company continues to be favorable, with
increases from assessments, marina, vehicle registration, other revenues, and commission revenue from the
Company. Operating revenues of the Association and Marinas exceeded 2020 actual and the 2021 budget, due
mainly to non-assessment revenues, including other income under certain provisions of the CARES Act. For
2021, the Association’s operating revenues exceeded operating expenses by $622,574 before depreciation. The
Association and Marinas continue to be debt free. During 2021, the Company’s revenues exceeded expenses by
$594,013 before depreciation, due to strong sales activity for both homes and lots.
Consolidated revenues (Association and Company) of $24,188,575 exceeded consolidated expenses of $23,221,407,
including depreciation, resulting in a net increase in members’ equity of $967,168. At December 31, 2021, members’
equity totaled $12,911,114, and deferred reserve assessments totaled $8,689,575 as a result of the FASB financial
statement reporting requirement implemented in 2019.
I have enjoyed serving as your Treasurer for the past year, and I thank each member of the Finance and Audit
Committee for his or her contributions. On behalf of the Committee, I also extend our appreciation to the staff of
the Association for their efforts during 2021.

Eric Larson
2021 Treasurer
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Independent Auditor’s Report
C HRIS T OP HE R H . H OL LA N D , CPA
S . S T E W A RT B RO MLE Y , CPA
R ON N IE A . B A RN HI LL , J R ., CPA
S HA N N ON L . B RE T T , CPA , CFE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To The Board of Directors and Members
The Landings Association, Inc.
600 Landings Way South
Savannah, Georgia 31411
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Landings Association, Inc. and its subsidiary, The Landings
Company, which comprise the consolidating balance sheets as of December 31, 2021, and the related consolidating statements
of revenues and expenses and changes in members’ equity, and of cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to
the financial statements.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The
Landings Association, Inc. and subsidiary as of December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of The Landings Association, Inc. and subsidiary and to
meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Correction of Error
As discussed in Note 14 to the financial statements, an error resulting in the understatement of amounts previously reported
for accounts receivable and net revenues as of December 31, 2020, was discovered by management during the current year.
Accordingly, amounts reported for these balances have been restated in the December 31, 2020 financial statements now
presented, and an adjustment has been made to increase members’ equity as of December 31, 2020, to correct the error. Our
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered
in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about The Landings Association, Inc. and subsidiary’s ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based
on the financial statements.
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In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:
• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of The Landings Association, Inc.
and subsidiary’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt
about The Landings Association, Inc. and subsidiary’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we identified during the audit.
Prior Period Financial Statements
We have previously audited The Landings Association, Inc. and subsidiary’s 2020 financial statements, and we expressed an
unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated February 9, 2021. In our opinion, the
summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, is consistent, in all
material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived after consideration of the Correction of
Error section of our report.
Disclaimer of Opinion on Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the supplementary information of future
major repairs and replacements on pages 49-50 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information
is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Information Included in the Annual Report
Management is responsible for the other information included in the Annual Report. The other information comprises messages
from the President and the General Manager, the Association’s mission statement, vision, and strategic plan objectives, listings of
the Board of Directors, Operations Leadership Team and committees for the current year, and reports from various departments
of The Landings Association, Inc. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any
form of assurance thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether
a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial statements, or the other information otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of
the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Holland, Bromley, Barnhill & Brett, LLP
Savannah, Georgia
February 8, 2022
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Consolidating Balance Sheets
December 31, 2020

December 31, 2021
The Landings Association, Inc.
Reserves
Funds

Operating

The Landings
Company

Total

Eliminations

Total

Total

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash & cash equivalents
Cash & money market accounts

$

Cash held in escrow

1,500,638

$

7,954,315

$

525,609
2,026,247

7,954,315

Certificates of deposit

490,638

Accounts receivable, net 1
Inventories
Prepaid insurance & other

9,454,953

$

2,002,640

525,609

422,809

9,980,562

2,425,449

$

-

$

-

490,638

1,292,020

1,292,020

(1,532)

64,779

64,779

242,867

242,867

22,620

Total Current Assets

3,625,913

8,444,953

12,070,866

2,448,069

Property, Plant & Equipment, net

7,836,106

244,622

8,080,728

608,213

11,457,593

$

9,673,760

948,418

872,938

12,406,011

10,546,698

490,638

1,426,082

1,290,488

449,270

64,779

34,305

265,487

243,902

14,517,403

12,700,257

8,688,941

8,607,654

(2,177,038)

-

-

(2,177,038)

-

(1,532)

Other Assets
Investment in subsidiary

2,177,038

Total Other Assets
TOTAL

2,177,038

2,177,038
$

-

13,639,057 $

2,177,038

8,689,575

$

-

$

-

22,328,632 $

3,056,282

$

(2,178,570) $

40,626

$

(1,532) $

-

23,206,344

$

73,746

$

21,307,911

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable & accrued expenses

$

34,652

$

34,652

$

32,334

Accrued payroll & taxes withheld

164,362

164,362

335,209

499,571

451,724

Escrow balances & deposits

525,609

525,609

422,809

948,418

872,938

3,320

3,320

3,320

32,528

8,689,575

8,689,575

7,797,535

-

144,606

Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue - reserve assessments

8,689,575

CARES Act PPP funding
Income tax payable

54,700

Total Current Liabilities

727,943

8,689,575

9,417,518

Long-term deferred tax liability

853,344

(1,532)

25,900

54,700

2,300

10,269,330

9,333,965

25,900

30,000

Equity
Common stock 2

-

100

Retained earnings

-

2,176,938

Members' equity
Total Equity
TOTAL

$

12,911,114

-

12,911,114

12,911,114

-

12,911,114

2,177,038

22,328,632 $

3,056,282

13,639,057 $

8,689,575

$

(100)

$

-

-

2,176,938

1,631,596

(2,176,938)

10,734,176

10,312,350

(2,177,038)

12,911,114

11,943,946

(2,178,570) $

23,206,344

$

21,307,911

NOTE - The accompanying Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
1 - Allowance for doubtful accounts was approximately $110,400 and $106,600 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
2 - Common Stock $1 par, 10,000 shares authorized, 100 shares issued and outstanding.
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Consolidating Statements of Revenues
and Expenses and Changes
In Members’ Equity
Year ended
December 31, 2020

Year ended December 31, 2021
The Landings Association, Inc.
Reserves
Funds

Operating

The Landings
Company

Total

Eliminations

Total

Total

Revenues
Assessments

$

Marina

5,301,852

$

2,955,508

$

2,053,514

8,257,360

Commissions

-

Vehicle registration

$

2,053,514
$

8,649,030

8,257,360

$

7,723,378

2,053,514

1,794,220

8,649,030

7,895,616

1,066,822

836,266

124,112

174,802
124,969

1,066,822

1,066,822

Service agreements

131,057

131,057

Architectural review fees

146,216

146,216

146,216

20,098

20,098

102,523

1,801,001

1,801,001

1,601,348

97,980

85,086

1,827,708

144,734

1,972,442

1,138,445

2,969,018

13,600,755

10,594,765

24,188,575

21,476,653

1,891,926

1,891,926

1,844,853

2,387,122

6,323,460

6,323,460

5,432,833

1,709,247

1,474,023

Interest earned

6,193

13,905

Rental fees

$

-

Telecommunications lease

97,980

Other

97,980

1,828,103

Total

(6,945)

(395)

10,631,737

(6,945)

Expenses
Community services

1,891,926

Public works

3,936,338

Marina

1,709,247

1,709,247

General & administrative

2,467,652

2,467,652

1,024,775

3,485,482

3,318,491

Commissions

-

5,202,236

5,202,236

4,756,857

Costs related to rentals

-

1,821,391

1,821,391

1,616,813

Sales & marketing

-

1,808,955

1,808,955

1,418,400

4,000

143,395

147,395

183,378

22,390,092

20,045,648

Income tax expense

4,000

Total

(6,945)

10,009,163

2,387,122

12,396,285

10,000,752

Excess revenues

622,574

581,896

1,204,470

594,013

1,798,483

1,431,005

Depreciation

782,644

782,644

48,671

831,315

851,743

581,896

421,826

545,342

967,168

579,262

(545,342)

-

-

581,896

967,168

545,342

(545,342)

967,168

579,262

-

11,943,946

1,631,696

(1,631,696)

11,943,946

11,364,684

Net (expenses) revenues

(160,070)

Equity in income of subsidiary

545,342

11,943,946

Transfers
Equity, December 31

(581,896)

581,896
$

12,911,114

$

-

$

12,911,114

$

2,177,038

NOTE - The accompanying Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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-

545,342

385,272
Equity, January 1

(6,945)

$

(2,177,038) $

12,911,114

$

11,943,946

Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended
December 31,
2020

Year ended
December 31, 2021
The Landings Association, Inc.
Operating

Reserves Funds

The Landings
Company

Total

Eliminations

Total

Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net revenues

$

385,272

$

581,896

$

967,168

$

545,342

$

(545,342) $

967,168

$

579,262

Adjustments to reconcile net revenues
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Equity in income of subsidiary

(545,342)

(545,342)

Depreciation

782,644

782,644

Gain on disposal of assets

(33,376)
3,084

Bad debt expense

-

-

831,315

851,743

(33,376)

(33,376)

(49,730)

3,084

3,084

9,317

(1,827)

(1,827)

(64,871)

(845,834)

(845,834)

(845,834)

(357,881)

(30,474)

(30,474)

(30,474)

10,532

Interest earned on certificates of deposit

(1,827)

Increase in receivables
(Increase) decrease in inventories
Change in deferred tax items

545,342
48,671

-

Increase in prepaid expenses

(57,199)

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable & accrued expenses
Increase in escrow balances & deposits
Increase in accrued payroll & taxes withheld

(57,199)

3,394

3,394

207,036

207,036

33,852

33,852

Increase in income taxes payable
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenues

(29,208)

(4,100)

85,000

35,614

(21,585)

(92,876)

39,550

42,944

(81,753)

(131,556)

75,480

301,832

13,995

47,847

122,378

52,400

52,400

2,300

(29,208)

12,597

892,040

453,499

(144,606)

144,606

(29,208)

Increase in deferred revenue - reserve assessments

892,040

892,040

CARES Act PPP funding

(144,606)

Transfers from (to) other funds

581,896

(581,896)

Net cash provided by operating activities

455,745

890,213

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures

1,345,958

(811,198)

Proceeds from capital asset disposals

(580,961)

Proceeds from sale of certificates of deposit
Purchase of certificates of deposit
Net cash provided by investing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents

$

(457,509)
49,730

580,961

-

-

-

1,427,271

1,427,271

1,427,271

4,060,211

(490,000)
160,189

(91,100)

1,597,247

1,506,147

6,357,068

8,474,415

$

1,925,955

34,116

707,034

7,954,315

$

9,980,562

(102,144)

-

1,801,268

(913,342)

(490,000)

2,026,247

-

-

34,116

(546,845)

2,117,347

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1

455,310

(811,198)

34,116

Capital asset transfers

Cash and cash equivalents, December 31

(4,100)

(490,000)

(1,260,616)

58,045

2,391,816

353,166

1,859,313

4,317,771

2,072,283

10,546,698

6,228,927

(102,144)

$

2,425,449

-

$

-

$

12,406,011

$

10,546,698

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash of $95,195 and $91,600 was paid for income taxes during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. No cash was paid during either year for interest expense.
NOTE - The accompanying Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 1 - Organization

The Landings Association, Inc. (“the Association”) is a property owners’ association, organized as a not-for-profit
corporation in the State of Georgia. Its members are property owners of The Landings on Skidaway Island, a private
residential community composed of 4,755 acres and 4,420 lots, located in Chatham County, Georgia. The Association
owns, operates, and maintains the common properties, facilities, and the marinas, and it provides security services
in the form of access control within the community.
The Association is the sole shareholder of The Landings Company (“the Company”). The Company is responsible for
the marketing and real estate operations previously provided by the property developer, The Branigar Organization.
In accordance with the bylaws of the Company, the transfer of Company stock is restricted solely to the Association,
which is to remain the sole shareholder. The majority of the Company’s activities relate to promoting The Landings’
real estate properties on a national basis, sales of homes and lots, and rentals of owners’ homes.

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies

Method of Consolidation - The accompanying consolidating financial statements include the accounts of the
Association and the Company. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The
Association provides certain security services to the Company, which represent the only intercompany transaction.
Accounting Method - Both the Association’s and the Company’s financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). Accordingly, revenues
are recognized when earned, rather than when received, and expenses are recognized when incurred, rather than
when paid.
The Association’s governing documents provide certain guidelines for governing its financial activities. To ensure
observance of limitations and restrictions on the use of financial resources, the Association maintains its accounts
using fund accounting. Financial resources are classified for accounting and reporting purposes in the following
funds established according to their nature and purpose:
Operating Fund - This fund is used to account for financial resources available for the general operations of
the Association.
Capital Reserves Fund - This fund is used to accumulate financial resources designated for future major
repairs and replacements.
Cash & Cash Equivalents - Cash equivalents represent highly-liquid investments with maturities of three months or
fewer at the date of purchase.
Segregated Cash Within the Operating Fund - The Association holds monies in escrow for owners and builders
during the construction phase of new houses and major renovations. Cash held in escrow at December 31, 2021
totaled $525,609.
Segregated Cash Within The Landings Company - The Company maintains escrow accounts for monies received
as down payments on sales contracts and security deposits of members’ houses rented through the Company. Cash
held in escrow at December 31, 2021 totaled $422,809.
Assessments - Association members are subject to an annual assessment to provide funds for the Association’s
operating expenses and major repairs and replacements. Assessment revenue is recognized as the related performance
obligations are satisfied at transaction amounts expected to be collected. The Association’s performance obligations
related to its operating assessments are satisfied over time on a daily pro-rata basis using the input method. The
performance obligations related to the reserve fund assessments are satisfied when these funds are expended for
their designated purpose. Accordingly, reserve assessments are initially recorded in current liabilities as deferred
revenue. When reserve expenditures occur, a reclassification to reserve assessment revenue is recorded.
Assessments receivable is stated as the amount expected to be collected from outstanding assessments from
property owners. The Association treats uncollectible assessments as variable consideration. Methods, inputs, and
assumptions used to evaluate whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained include consideration of
past experience and susceptibility to factors outside the Association’s control.
Members’ assessments for the Association for operating purposes are required to be approved by a successful vote of
the members no more frequently than every three years. The annual assessment rate for each lot in 2021 and in 2020
was $2,070 and $1,850, respectively, which includes general purpose and reserve assessments. Disbursements from
the Operating Fund generally are at the discretion of the General Manager within the Board-approved budget and
policy. Disbursements from the Reserve Fund may be made only for designated purposes.
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Marina Revenue - The primary revenue sources supporting Marina operations are the following: boat dry rack
rentals; boat wet slip rentals; merchandise sales; operational fees; and gasoline and diesel sales. Rack and slip rentals
are billed prior to the actual provision of the services and are recognized as income when earned.
Inventories - Merchandise and beverage inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or market value. Gasoline
and diesel fuel inventories are recorded based on a moving, weighted-average cost per gallon for the sales period.
Inventories for the Association’s operations include:

Merchandise and other
Gasoline and diesel fuel

$
$

2021
17,246 $
47,533
64,779 $

2020
11,847
22,458
34,305

Recognition of Assets and Depreciation Policy - The Association owns and/or maintains significant amounts of real
property and improvements as follows:
				Common property, in acres		715
				Center islands/medians		313
				Lagoons				151
				Roadways, in miles			91
				Storm drains, in miles			80
				Trails, in miles paved			22
				Bridges					11
				Gated Entrances			7
These properties were periodically conveyed to the Association under agreements with developers. The common
properties are real property directly associated with the individual ownership of member properties and are
dedicated for the use of the entire community. They cannot be sold separately and, thus, have no fair market value
other than that related to their intended use. The value of such assets is not recognized in the financial statements
of the Association. The Articles of Incorporation and General Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions permit the
Association to participate in mergers and consolidations with other nonprofit corporations organized for the same
purposes; mortgage the properties; and dedicate or transfer all or any part of the common properties to any public
agency, authority, or utility. Upon dissolution of the Association, the assets, both real and personal, would be dedicated
to an appropriate public agency or activity. All such actions require approval of two-thirds of the membership.
The Association capitalizes assets acquired with Association funds. Assets donated by members are recorded at
fair market value. Property, plant, and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method at rates that are sufficient to amortize the costs of the assets over their
estimated useful lives. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the amounts expensed by the Association
for depreciation were $782,644 and $802,728, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
amounts expensed by the Company for depreciation were $48,671 and $49,015, respectively.
Property, Plant, and Equipment consists of the following at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Land improvements
Buildings & docks
Equipment
Furniture & computers
Vehicles
Work-in-progress
Less accumulated
depreciation
Land

2021
Association
Company
$ 4,469,565 $
6,477,399
861,614
6,302,920
159,338
733,392
295,552
1,011,640
244,622
131,315
19,239,538
1,447,819
(11,158,810)
$ 8,080,728

(914,606)
$

75,000
608,213

2020
Association
Company
$ 4,469,565 $
6,477,399
861,614
5,745,775
157,145
710,317
306,509
1,172,559
14,385
40,918
18,590,000
1,366,186
(10,537,086)
$ 8,052,914

(886,446)
$

75,000
554,740
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Use of Estimates - The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Advertising Costs - The Company expenses the majority of advertising and other marketing costs as they are incurred.
Subsequent Events - The Association and the Company have evaluated subsequent events through February 8, 2022,
the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

Note 3 - Concentration of Credit Risk

The Association and the Company maintain their cash balances at regional banks. At December 31, 2021, the
Association’s cash balances exceeded federally-insured limits by $300. This uninsured amount represents demand
deposit and money market fund accounts. At December 31, 2021, the Company’s cash balances did not exceed
federally-insured limits. The Association and Company have not experienced any losses of such funds, and
management believes the Association and Company are not exposed to any significant risks.

Note 4 - Association Investments

Investment securities are those investments that the Association acquires with the intent and the ability to hold
to maturity. Securities chosen for investment are selected to preserve capital and protect investment principal, to
maintain sufficient liquidity to meet anticipated needs, and to attain a market rate of return consistent with the
preservation of capital.
The short-term investments are certificates of deposit held at a predetermined interest rate based on the terms of the
purchase.
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, “Fair Value
Measurement,” establishes a framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority
to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (level 3). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1		
			

Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the
measurement date for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2		
			

Quoted prices in markets that are not considered to be active or financial
instruments for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3		
			

Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the					
fair value measurement and unobservable

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the investment assets at fair value as of December
31, 2021 and 2020:
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Certificates of deposits
Total investment assets at fair value

2021
Level 1
Level 2
$
490,638 $
$
490,638 $
-

Level 3
$
$
-

Certificates of deposits
Total investment assets at fair value

2020
Level 1
Level 2
$ 1,426,082 $
$ 1,426,082 $
-

Level 3
$
$
-

Notes to Financial Statements
Note 5 - Accounts Receivable

Assessment invoices are sent out in January of each year and are due March 1st. Assessment balances are considered
delinquent on April 1st, and a 10% late fee is charged to the outstanding balance. Finance charges on unpaid balances
accrue monthly at an annual rate of 10%. Association members may also elect to pay their assessment fees on a
monthly or quarterly basis if they set up automatic electronic payments. Assessments paid on a monthly or quarterly
plan are charged a one-time service fee equal to the Prime rate published in the Wall Street Journal, which at December
31, 2021 was 3.25%, and are considered delinquent once a payment is missed.
Non-assessment fees are invoiced once the related goods or services are provided. Non-assessment balances are
considered delinquent after 30 days of nonpayment, and finance charges on unpaid balances begin to accrue monthly
at an annual rate of 10%.
Assessment and non-assessment receivable balances that are 90 days or more delinquent are reserved for in the
allowance for doubtful accounts. Assessment receivable balances that are unpaid as of December 31st are sent to
collections, and non-assessment receivable balances are sent to collections once the balance reaches $2,000 and
is over 90 days old. Balances considered uncollectible are written off as a reduction to the allowance for doubtful
accounts.
Revenues from finance charges and service fees are included in other revenue, recognized as earned, and totaled
$38,980 and $59,057 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Past-due assessments of $0 and
$5,225 were written off at the end of 2021 and 2020, respectively. Past-due owners have been suspended.

Note 6 - Capital Reserves Fund

As described in the Supplementary Information on Major Repairs and Replacements, the Association conducts
periodic evaluations of the components in the Capital Reserves Fund.
Future Repairs and Replacements - The Association’s governing documents authorize the levying of annual
assessments, which provide for the repair and maintenance of drainage facilities, selected assets, and road and
community path/trail resurfacing.
The Association includes normal, recurring repair and maintenance of common properties in annual operating
budgets. The Association also sets aside in a separate repair and replacement Capital Reserves Fund those amounts
estimated to be required to meet future major repair and replacement costs of certain components of common
properties. Actual expenditures may vary from the estimated future expenditures, and variations may be material. If
additional funds are needed, the Association has the authority to delay major repairs and replacements until funds
are available, or, subject to membership approval, to increase regular assessments or pass special assessments.
Capital Reserves Fund Storm Drain and Flood Water Control and Selected Assets Components - In 2018, staff contracted Southeastern
Pipe to conduct a camera study of all piping located along the marsh outfall areas. In 2019, staff focused heavily on
repairing and replacing storm drain pipes as recommended by the contractor, which was funded through the Capital
Reserves Fund. This work continued in 2020 and in 2021. In 2021, the Association purchased its own storm drain
camera and plans to video all storm drains in-house over the next several years to determine the required repairs and
replacements.
Equipment Components - Components with replacement costs more than $1,000 are included. Such equipment
includes telecommunications system, video monitoring system, trucks, backhoe, front-end loader, street sweepers,
automatic gates at entrances, and forklifts.
Road and Trail Resurfacing Components - In 2019, an engineering firm was contracted to evaluate the estimated
repairs and useful remaining lives of the road and trail system assets. Updated lifespans and costs were incorporated
into the Capital Asset Management Plan (“CAMP”). Periodic evaluations of the roads by engineers continue.

Note 7 - Retirement Plan

The Association and the Company each maintain a 401(k) retirement plan for eligible employees who are age 18 or
older. Employees may contribute annually up to $19,500 (with a catch-up contribution of $6,500 for those 50 and
older) during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. The Association’s plan provides an employer match of
100% of the first 6% of the salary deferred by an employee, as well as a discretionary contribution. The Company’s
plan provided an employer match of 100% of the first 6% and 4% of the salary deferred by an employee during the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, as well as a discretionary contribution.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Association’s contributions amounted to $315,830 and $286,472,
respectively, into the 401(k) plan. Contributions for the Company amounted to $66,290 and $36,742 for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Note 8 - Income Taxes

A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position would be sustained in a
tax examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur. Once the threshold is met, the amount recognized
in the financial statements is the largest amount of tax benefit likely realized on examination. For tax positions not
meeting the “more likely than not” test, no tax benefit is recorded.
The Association and the Company are subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of the state of Georgia.
The Association and the Company are no longer subject to examination by taxing authorities for years before 2018.
The Association and the Company do not expect the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly
in the next 12 months. If incurred, the Association and the Company would recognize interest and penalties related to
unrecognizable tax benefits in interest expense. The Association and the Company did not record interest or penalties
related to income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Association - The Association is classified as a nonexempt membership organization for both federal and state
income tax purposes for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. It does not qualify as an exempt organization.
The Association is subject to specific rulings and regulations applicable to nonexempt membership organizations.
In general, the Association is required to separate its taxable income and deductions into membership, nonmembership, and capital transactions. For federal tax purposes, the Association is taxed on all net income from
non-membership activities, reduced only by losses from non-membership activities. Non-membership income may
not be offset by membership losses, and any excess membership deductions may be carried forward only to offset
membership income of future tax periods. Any net membership income not applied to the subsequent tax year is
subject to taxation. The Association files Form 1120, which is subject to the December 2017 Tax Cut and Jobs Act flat
corporate tax rate of 21%.
For federal income tax purposes, a net operating loss (“NOL”) of approximately $293,000 will be used to offset 2021
taxable income, resulting in a NOL of approximately $79,000 that will be carried forward to offset taxable income of the
Association in future years. A portion of the NOL will expire in 2037, and the remainder will be carried indefinitely. For
state income tax purposes, a NOL of approximately $293,000 will be used to offset 2021 taxable income, resulting in a
NOL of approximately $355,000 that will be carried forward to offset taxable income in future years. A portion of the
NOL will expire in 2034, and the remainder will be carried indefinitely. A corresponding deferred tax asset of $36,900
has been recorded for the potential NOL carryforward benefit, and a valuation allowance has been established for
the full amount, as shown below:

Long-term deferred tax asset:
Federal NOL deferred asset
State NOL deferred asset

Less valuation allowance for NOL assets

$

$

16,500
20,400
36,900
(36,900)
-

Company - The Company elected a C-Corporation status for income tax purposes. The provision for income taxes
includes current federal and state income taxes and deferred taxes arising from temporary differences between
income for financial reporting and income tax purposes. Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and the amounts for income tax purposes.
As of December 31, 2021, these differences relate entirely to depreciation, and the Company recorded a long-term
deferred tax liability of $25,900.
For federal income tax purposes, the Company has taxable income of approximately $547,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2021. For state income tax purposes, the Company has taxable income of approximately $574,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2021. Throughout 2021, the Company paid $91,280 and $2,240 in estimated federal and
state income taxes, respectively. An income tax payable of $54,700 has been recorded for the estimated remaining
balances due for federal and state purposes. Income tax expense shown on the statement of income consists of
current tax expense of $147,495 and deferred tax expense of ($4,100).
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Note 9 - Legal Matters

During the normal course of business, the Association and the Company occasionally will be involved in lawsuits
related to the collection of assessments from homeowners and other matters. As of December 31, 2021, the
Association and the Company do not believe there are significant legal contingencies related to these proceedings,
and no provision for these matters has been made in the accompanying financial statements.

Note 10 - Line of Credit

In May 2017, the Association entered into a secured $5,000,000 line of credit agreement with Ameris Bank, bearing
interest at 2.50% over the one-month LIBOR rate. This agreement was renewed in May 2021 and will mature May
31, 2023. The Association anticipates renewing upon maturity. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, no balance was
outstanding under this agreement. Interest expense was $0 for each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
In March 2021, the Company entered into a secured $500,000 line of credit agreement with South State Bank, bearing
interest at the Bank’s prime rate, which at December 31, 2021 was approximately 3.3%. This agreement will mature
March 10, 2022. At December 31, 2021, no balance was outstanding under this agreement, and interest expense was
$0 for the year then ended.

Note 11 - Related Party Transactions

In 2019, the Association entered into a one-year contract for 2020 totaling $229,255 with The Landings Club (“Club”),
a separate membership entity that owns and operates the golf, tennis, swimming, and physical fitness facilities. Under
terms of the agreement, the Association was to provide lagoon maintenance and security services. During 2020, the
Club terminated the security services portion of the contract, which reduced the total to $159,864, and a new, oneyear contract for continued lagoon services was entered in the amount of $108,176. In 2021, the Association and the
Club entered into a new, two-year contract totaling $110,580 and $113,049 for continued lagoon services in 2021 and
2022, respectively.
The Company paid $20,530 and $6,584, respectively, to the Club for joint marketing efforts and education events
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. The Club paid $9,803 and $8,624, respectively, to the Company
for marketing consulting services during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Note 12 - Commitments

The Company leases office equipment under non-cancelable operating leases expiring in various years through 2026.
The Company incurred rental expense relating to operating leases of $9,233 and $9,370 for the years ended December
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Minimum annual lease payments are as follows:

For the year ending
December 31,
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

$

9,920
9,465
8,100
8,100
1,350
36,935

The Association has engaged BrightView to provide landscaping and mowing services to the Association. In 2019, the
Association entered into a new, three-year contract with BrightView that expires in 2022 and has annual payments
due of $1,064,424. In 2021, the Association negotiated a new three-year contract with Brightview that expires in 2024
and has annual payments due of $1,064,424.
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Note 13 - COVID-19

In March 2020, there was a global outbreak of a new strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, which the World Health
Organization declared to be a global pandemic. To date, COVID-19 has resulted in government-imposed quarantines,
certain travel restrictions, and other public health safety measures. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
Association’s and Company’s financial condition and results of operations will depend on future developments,
including the duration and spread of the pandemic and related advisories and restrictions that could impact the
Association and the Company. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and associated effects on the Association and
the Company and the overall economy are uncertain and cannot be predicted.
On April 29, 2020, the Association secured $792,800 in emergency federal funding through the Paycheck Protection
Program as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) passed by U.S. Congress on
March 27, 2020. The Association returned these funds to the Small Business Administration (“SBA”) on May 7, 2020.
On May 6, 2020, the Company secured $144,606 in emergency federal funding through the Paycheck Protection
Program as part of the CARES Act. The loan could be forgiven if certain requirements were met. Any unforgiven
loan proceeds would have accrued interest at 1.00% and had a maturity date of May 6, 2022. On January 15, 2021,
the SBA forgave the loan in full. The latest guidance issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“AICPA”) states if an organization expects to meet the forgiveness eligibility criteria and, therefore, concludes that the
loan represents, in substance, a conditional grant contribution, FASB Topic 958 related to nonprofit organizations can
be analogized by for profit organizations. In accordance with this guidance, the Company recorded a current liability
of $144,606 at December 31, 2020. In 2021, when the loan was forgiven in full, this amount was recognized as revenue
and is included in other income on the accompanying consolidating statement of revenue and expenses and changes
in members’ equity.
On July 31, 2020, the Company secured a disaster loan from the SBA in the amount of $150,000. The Company repaid
these funds to the SBA on September 22, 2020.
The Association is eligible for the Employee Retention Credit (“ERC”) under the CARES Act, which is a refundable
tax credit against certain employment taxes subject to certain criteria. The Association has filed for these tax
credits, which are projected to net approximately $861,449 and $405,937 for the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively. To date, the Association has received a net amount of $46,751. At December 31, 2021 and
2020, receivables of $1,220,636 and $405,937, respectively, are included in other receivables on the accompanying
consolidating balance sheets related to these tax credits. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, other
income of $1,013,469 and $477,573, respectively, and general and administrative expenses of $152,050 and $71,636,
respectively, are included in the accompanying consolidating statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in
members’ equity related to these tax credits.

Note 14 - Prior Period Restatement

During 2021, the Association discovered a required update in reporting of the ERC available under the CARES Act for
certain 2020 payroll periods. ERC revenues (less administrative expenses) and receivables were considered during
preparation of the December 31, 2020 financial statements and were conservatively not reported. Pursuant to the
latest ERC information available, such amounts should have been reported, which would have increased December
31, 2020 net revenues and members’ equity. This has been corrected by restating each of the line items affected in the
December 31, 2020 financial statements, as follows:

The NOLs available for carry forward to 2021 decreased by approximately $108,000 for federal and state purposes as a
result of this correction. A full allowance is recorded to offset deferred tax assets, so there is no related balance sheet
effect.
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Supplementary Information on Major Repairs & Replacements
As described in Note 6, the Association conducts periodic evaluations of the components in the Capital Reserves
Fund. Engineering firms help estimate the remaining useful lives and the replacement costs of the storm drain, flood
water control, road, trail, and bridge components of common property, as well as the marina facilities.
Other common property and major equipment components are reviewed annually by the Public Works Committee,
the Association’s Reserves Subcommittee, and staff, as well as external firms when necessary. In September 2019, the
Association engaged an external firm, Community Advisors, to perform a Level I Reserve Study. This study, which
included a site visit, was completed by a Professional Reserve Analyst (“PRA”) in early 2020. This study provided a
complete and accurate analysis so the Association can accurately forecast major component replacement cycles and
costs, ensuring funds are available when necessary.
In November 2020, Community Advisors completed a Level 3 Reserve Study, which provided updated valuations and
recommendations, though it did not include a site visit. In December 2021, Community Advisors completed another
Level 3 Reserve Study, which provided updated valuations and recommendations. The following information is
based on the analysis from the PRA and presents significant information about the components of the Association’s
common property.
Amounts are adjusted annually as necessary.
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Components
Association Capital ‐ Access Control
Association Capital ‐ Site Cameras
Association Capital ‐ Computers
Association Capital ‐ Radios
Association Capital ‐ Misc. Equipment
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Misc. Site Components
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Street/Parking Lots
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Bridges
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Access Control
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Fencing
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Wells and Irrigation
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Site Lighting
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Signage
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Playground/Sports Field
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Building and Components
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Generators
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Fixtures/Furniture
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Construction Vehicles/Equip.
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Fuel Management System
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Vehicles
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Repair Shop Equipment
Bridges/Structures/Equipment ‐ Delegal Marina
Lagoons and Structures
Marina Capital ‐ Fencing and Pavement
Marina Capital ‐ Dredging Equipment
Marina Capital ‐ Pier/Docks
Marina Capital ‐ Fuel Systems
Marina Capital ‐ Sewage Disposal System
Marina Capital ‐ Buildings
Marina Capital ‐ Racks
Marina Capital ‐ Electrical
Marina Capital ‐ Misc. Components
Marina Capital ‐ Vessels
Marina Capital ‐ Heavy Equipment
Marina Capital ‐ Office Equipment
Community Paths
Roads ‐ Resurfacing
Roads ‐ Maintenance
Storm Drain ‐ Maintenance
Total

50

Estimated Remaining Useful
Life (Years)
0
0 to 6
0 to 7
1 to 11
0 to 7
1
5 to 21
0 to 44
0 to 14
0 to 15
0 to 17
0 to 12
1 to 15
6 to 15
0 to 26
3 to 15
1 to 14
0 to 11
4 to 22
1 to 6
1 to 11
3 to 25
0 to 34
2 to 16
3
2 to 61
0 to 48
6 to 25
0 to 16
0 to 20
0 to 25
6 to 10
0 to 5
6
0 to 1
0 to 16
0 to 33
0 to 5
1 to 6

Estimated Current
Replacement/Repair Cost
$30,874
$220,537
$202,888
$49,000
$280,573
$300,000
$323,666
$5,133,663
$440,279
$133,200
$411,945
$91,400
$250,800
$620,319
$1,435,572
$193,500
$148,292
$1,236,355
$18,734
$477,000
$31,447
$1,279,000
$2,500,394
$236,103
$27,500
$6,181,118
$794,646
$35,500
$104,062
$3,707,988
$144,900
$47,500
$58,500
$477,000
$12,900
$1,780,976
$24,640,368
$679,992
$3,209,806
$57,948,297

CONTACT US

The Landings Association
600 Landings Way South
Savannah, Georgia 31419
www.landings.org
T: (912) 598-2520
F: (912) 598-2516
E: webmaster@landings.org

